



Os efeitos das alterações ambientais sobre a distribuição e fenótipo de um lagarto partenogenético na Amazônia Central

Lucas Rosado Mendonça

Manaus, Amazonas Junho/2023





Os efeitos das alterações ambientais sobre a distribuição e fenótipo de um lagarto partenogenético na Amazônia Central

Discente: Lucas Rosado Mendonça Orientador: Dr. Marcelo Gordo Coorientadora: Dra. Fernanda de Pinho Werneck Coorientador: Dr. Josué Anderson Rêgo Azevedo

> Dissertação apresentada à Universidade Federal do Amazonas como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre pelo Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zoologia.

Manaus, Amazonas Junho/2023

Ficha Catalográfica

Ficha catalográfica elaborada automaticamente de acordo com os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a).



"Por toda parte a natureza fala com o homem numa voz que é familiar à sua alma" Alexander von Humboldt

Agradecimentos

Agradeço imensamente aos meus pais, Sr. Aristides e Dona Teresa, que do jeito deles me deram o suporte que eu precisava. Ao meu irmão, Daniel, pelo companheirismo.

Agradeço a minha companheira, Letícia Sena, pelo apoio quando decidi ficar a mais de 1000 km de distância; que foi sempre paciente e amorosa nos momentos de dificuldade; que me ajudou durante os experimentos; que gastou até mesmo quando não deveria para ir à Manaus me encontrar. Obrigado.

Sou imensamente grato aos meus amigos, Alexander T. Mônico, Esteban D. Koch e Igor Y. Fernandes por todo suporte e amizade em Manaus. Chegar e me manter na cidade sem a ajuda de vocês teria sido muito mais difícil. Muito obrigado pelos ensinamentos e conversas, boa parte do que aprendi sobre a Amazônia é graças a vocês.

Agradeço aos meus companheiros de casa, Bryan C. Martins e Silionamã P. Dantas. Dentre todas minhas experiências em república, essa com toda certeza foi a mais tranquila e proveitosa. Dividir o espaço com vocês foi um imenso prazer. A cada conversa era um peso a menos nas costas e uma injeção de motivação, essenciais para passar por esse período de uma forma mais tranquila. Aprendi muito, e se meu doutorado tiver linhas taxonômicas foi graças a vocês (e ao Alexander também *hehehe*).

Agradeço aos amigos que fiz durante o processo, Alessandra Rodrigues, Brena S. Gonçalves, Cláudia Souza, Eliza R. Costa, Erasmo Andrade, Leandro Moraes, Pedro Taucce e Vanessa Braga. Muito obrigado pelas conversas, pelos ensinamentos, pelas risadas e pelo apoio.

Agradeço a todos os meus amigos do Herpeto em Foco, pelo apoio e ajuda ao longo dos anos, por mais que eu tenha me afastado um pouco do projeto e não tenha conseguido contribuir efetivamente.

Agradeço aos meus amigos, em especial ao Gleydson Emílio, Marcelo Dias, Luana Coutinho e Ubiratã Souza, pelas conversas, apoio e ensinamentos. Mesmo a distâncias vocês todos têm e tiveram papel importante durante minha trajetória.

Agradeço aos professores que tive a oportunidade de conhecer durante o processo, André Andrade, Adrian Garda, Cíntia C. Frische, Fabrício B. Baccaro, Fabrícius Domingos, Igor Kaefer, Ronis Da Silveira e Sérgio H. Borges, sendo em campo ou em sala, formal ou informalmente.

Agradeço a Fernanda Werneck pelas oportunidades dadas a mim para conhecer as diferentes Amazônias. Tenho muito ainda para conhecer, mas aprendi imensamente com o que vi e vivi. Muito obrigado.

Agradeço ao Fabrício B. Baccaro e Marcos R. Rosado pela ajuda durante as análises e *scripts*. Trabalhar no R às vezes pode ser bem estressante. Muito obrigado.

Por fim, mas não menos importante, agradeço ao PPGZOOL-UFAM e aos meus orientadores, Fernanda Werneck, Josué Azevedo e Marcelo Gordo, pelo ensinamento e orientação. Agradeço em especial ao Josué, que antes mesmo de me ter como orientado já me dava todo suporte que podia quanto as análises e construção da dissertação.

A todos que me ajudaram de alguma forma, seja em uma análise, nas coletas, na companhia ou tendo uma simples conversa, meu muito obrigado.

Sumário

Resumo	7
1. Introdução	9
2. Objetivos	
2.1 Objetivo geral	
2.2. Objetivos específicos	12
3. Conclusão	
4. Referências	
5. Capítulo único	19
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Study area & sample method	
Genetic data	25
Preferential and voluntary temperatures	
Sprint performance	
Critical minimum and maximum	
Morphological measurements	
Data analysis	
Inferring species distribution and extinction risks	
Results	
Genealogy and sample size	
Thermal sensitivity	
Morphological traits	
Current and future distributions	
Discussion	
Acknowledgements	
References	
Appendix	
Supplementary files	

Resumo

Diferentes mudanças ambientais podem levar diferentes populações ao vórtice de extinção, reduzindo sua variabilidade genética através do isolamento e diminuição populacional, impedindo assim seu resgate evolutivo. A modificação do habitat, como o desmatamento e a urbanização, juntamente com a mudança climática global, estão entre os impactos mais desafiadores para as espécies e geralmente exigem respostas rápidas e diferentes dos organismos. Podendo responder por meio de plasticidade fenotípica, adaptação evolutiva ou se dispersar para áreas adequadas. No entanto, espera-se que espécies com ecologias particulares, como aquelas associadas a áreas abertas ou hábitos generalistas, possam se beneficiar de mudanças ambientais expandindo suas áreas de distribuição para novas áreas disponibilizadas pela ação humana (espécies neonativas). Assim como as espécies partenogenéticas (se reproduzem sem o auxílio de machos), que possuem grande capacidade de colonização de novos ambientes. Aqui, avaliamos a variação na morfologia e preferências térmicas entre duas populações, natural e neonativa (urbana) de Gymnophthalmus underwoodi Grant, 1958 (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae), um lagarto partenogenético que habita das ilhas do Caribe, a ambientes abertos e urbanos na bacia amazônica, além de predizer como as mudanças climáticas podem impactar sua distribuição até 2100. Avaliamos a variação entre as populações: nativa em Bonfim, RR e neonativa em Manaus, AM; usando 16 características morfológicas e suas preferências termicas quanto a temperatura preferencial, temperatura crítica mínima, temperatura crítica máxima e curva de desempenho locomotor. Estimamos a distribuição da espécie no presente e futuro utilizando a modelagem híbrida para obtermos assim uma resposta mais acurada, relacionando dados de distribuição da espécie, variáveis climáticas, geográficas, e ecofisiológicas como desempenho locomotor e horas de atividade. O ambiente urbano apresenta estruturas e obstáculos diferentes quando comparado ao ambiente natural aberto (ex.: estruturas de baixa impermeabilidade, estruturas com baixo albedo, lixo, etc), resultando em respostas adaptativas das espécies que ali vivem. Desta forma, encontramos que a população neonativa apresenta maior velocidade do que a população nativa, como resultado de patas traseiras e dianteiras maiores, que podem facilitar a locomoção em ambientes verticalizados e com mais obstáculos, como as cidades. Apresentam também, um ótimo desempenho locomotor em temperaturas mais altas, em possível resultado à presença de ilhas de calor. Não somente, a população neonativa apresenta menor temperatura crítica mínima, podendo assim tolerar temperaturas mais baixas, que pode estar associado ao aumento da variação de temperatura em ambientes urbanos e ao aumento de seu tronco que proporciona maior inércia térmica. Dentre as variáveis de importância pro modelo, obtivemos: sazonalidade de temperatura, desempenho locomotor, teor de argila no solo e áreas abertas próximas a rios e cidades. As áreas de grande adequabilidade para a espécie apresentam maior distribuição ao longo dos ambientes abertos naturais (savanas, campinas, etc.) e curso dos rios Branco e Amazonas, devido à presença de bancos de areias e áreas abertas pela presença humana. Está associação aos rios e áreas abertas pode facilitar a dispersão de indivíduos pela Amazônia, através do transporte acidental em barcos e/ou rastreando ambientes em mudança e se dispersando por eles. Ainda, a espécie mostra tolerância às previsões climáticas mesmo em cenários extremos, aumentando sua distribuição em áreas abertas. Portanto, apesar de a espécie ser partenogenética e consequentemente ter baixo potencial para o resgate evolutivo, este é um dos poucos exemplos em que espécies de lagartos amazônicos podem se beneficiar de mudanças ambientais.

Palavra-chave: Emergência climática, Espécie neonativa, Ecofisiologia termal, Morfologia, Plasticidade fenotípica.

1. Introdução

As alterações ambientais como uso do solo, mineração, desmatamento, urbanização e mudanças climáticas globais tem levado diversas espécies a extinção, diminuindo suas populações e reduzindo sua variabilidade genética (Gibbons et al. 2000, Bickford et al. 2010, Todd et al. 2010, Lamkin e Miller 2016, IPBES 2019). As mudanças climáticas têm se acelerado e intensificado, resultando em novas previsões que apontam um aumento de 1,5 °C na temperatura global até 2030 e 5,7 °C ao final do século quando comparado a era pré-industrial (Xu et al. 2018, IPCC 2021). Consequentemente, diferentes respostas são observadas nos organismos, como: dispersão para locais climaticamente mais adequados ou a adaptação a novas condições ambientais através da plasticidade e/ou adaptação evolutiva (Pounds e Puschendorf 2004, Thomas et al. 2004, Wilson et al. 2005, Hoffmann e Sgrò 2011). A plasticidade permite ao organismo alterar rapidamente seu fenótipo (ex.: morfologia, fisiologia e comportamento) em resposta ao ambiente (Levis e Pfennig 2016, Snell-Rood et al. 2018). Por outro lado, as adaptações evolutivas ao nível genético podem não acontecer rápido o suficiente, em razão da magnitude e velocidade das mudanças climáticas, ou ainda serem má-adaptações (Hoffmann e Sgrò 2011, Diamond e Martin 2020). Em alguns casos a plasticidade fenotípica pode atuar também como amortecedor das mudanças, impedindo a adaptação local (Buckley et al. 2015, Fox et al. 2019).

Nos centros urbanos, as mudanças climáticas são acentuadas: formam-se ilhas de calor como consequência do aumento da temperatura das superfícies e do ar, consequência do uso extensivo de superfícies com baixo albedo (alta capacidade de reter calor) e redução de áreas cobertas por água e vegetação (Grimm et al. 2008, Hulley 2012). Com o avanço da ocupação humana, ilhas de calor já são observadas em centros urbanos na Amazônia (Souza e Alvalá 2014, Corrêa et al. 2016). Na cidade de Manaus (Amazonas), região central do bioma, a temperatura média teve aumento de 0,7°C durante o período de 1961 e 2008 (Souza e Alvalá 2014), atingindo valores próximos à média anual de 27,8°C das savanas de Roraima (Barbosa e Miranda 2004, Aguiar 2017). Em alguns casos, as adaptações às ilhas de calor podem servir como 'pré-adaptações', possibilitando que os organismos persistam no cenário de aquecimento global e ultrapassem filtros ambientais em diferentes ambientes, alcançando regiões antes indisponíveis (Borden e Flory 2021).

Organismos ectotérmicos que não conseguirem aumentar sua ingestão de alimento e/ou realocar os recursos calóricos, podem ter seu tamanho corporal reduzido

em resposta ao aumento de temperatura (Sheridan e Bickford 2011). Entretanto, em populações de lagartos que habitam ambientes urbanos têm-se encontrado tamanhos corporais e membros maiores quando comparados às não urbanas (Putman e Tippie 2020), ainda que seja possível encontrar o oposto (Sparkman et al. 2018, Putman et al. 2019, Vaughn et al. 2021). Esta variabilidade nos tamanhos corporais pode estar relacionada a diferentes estressores como às ilhas de calor, à relação presa-predador, à disponibilidade de alimento e aos poluentes presentes no ambiente (Lazić et al. 2013, Putman e Tippie 2020). Além disto, as áreas urbanas podem provocar alterações na simetria corporal, como resultado do estresse sofrido durante o desenvolvimento embrionário (Lazić et al. 2013, Olivero et al. 2021).

Modelos de distribuição de espécies são comumente usados para avaliar a resposta dos organismos às mudanças ambientais naturais e antrópicas (Pontes-da-Silva et al. 2018, Chen et al. 2021). Para isso, tem se usado principalmente os modelos correlativos, que relacionam as condições ambientais com a distribuição da espécie; e os mecanísticos, que partem de características fisiológicas da espécie (ex.: temperatura preferencial) e não somente de sua distribuição (Elith et al. 2010, Meineri et al. 2015). Contudo, o uso integrado dessas duas abordagens na construção de modelos híbridos, permite a obtenção de um modelo com maior acurácia quanto a relação da espécie com o ambiente (Kearney e Porter 2009, Elith et al. 2010, Meineri et al. 2015, Caetano et al. 2020, Tourinho et al. 2021). Com o propósito de compreender os efeitos provocados por alterações ambientais e climáticas sobre as populações de répteis, muitos autores têm utilizado de informações ecofisiológicas (Sinervo et al. 2010, Kubisch et al. 2015, Chen et al. 2021), como a temperatura preferencial, temperaturas críticas, e ótima (Taylor et al. 2020). A partir destas temperaturas é possível quantificar a vulnerabilidade da espécie às alterações climáticas, dado que esses traços representam a relação do ambiente com o organismo (Angilletta et al. 2002, Gilbert e Miles 2017). Com isso, possibilitam a obtenção do tempo de atividade da espécie, uma importante variável que pode aumentar a acurácia das predições (Caetano et al. 2020). Áreas com baixo tempo de atividade disponível impossibilitam a presença da espécie no local por não apresentarem horas com temperatura adequada o suficiente para realização de atividades básicas como forrageio e busca por parceiros reprodutivos (Angilletta et al. 2002, Angilletta 2009, Caetano et al. 2020).

As espécies especialistas são as mais afetadas pelas alterações ambientais (Cordier et al. 2021), enquanto outras espécies podem ser favorecidas por este processo,

como as espécies generalistas e de áreas abertas (Attum et al. 2006, Hoffmann e Sgrò 2011, Essl et al. 2019, Cordier et al. 2021). Algumas ainda podem rastrear as alterações ambientais e utilizá-las como corredores de dispersão, aumentando sua distribuição e atingindo áreas climaticamente favoráveis que antes estavam inatingíveis (neonatives; Essl et al. 2019). Em lagartos tem se observado alterações morfológicas (Putman e Tippie 2020, Vaughn et al. 2021), fisiológicas (Campbell-Staton et al. 2020) e comportamentais (Nordberg e Schwarzkopf 2019), devido às diferentes pressões seletivas presentes nos novos ambientes. Um caso disto é a categoria de substrato utilizado pelo organismo em determinado local, implicando diretamente na sua velocidade e sobrevivência (Tulli et al. 2012, Vanhooydonck et al. 2015, Winchell et al. 2018).

Neste processo de adaptação a um novo ambiente ou fator ambiental, o modo reprodutivo se torna uma importante característica (Orive et al. 2017, Jara et al. 2019, Partecke et al. 2020). Espécies clonais se tornam então um bom modelo para avaliar esses aspectos, como as espécies partenogenéticas verdadeiras (compostas apenas por fêmeas). Por não necessitarem de um parceiro reprodutivo, são espécies com grande capacidade para colonizar novos ambientes, principalmente em regiões de áreas marginais, áreas abertas, ilhas e áreas perturbadas, frequentemente apresentando maior área de distribuição que suas espécies irmãs sexuadas (Kearney 2005, Fujita et al. 2020). Contudo, a partenogênese pode ser custosa a longo prazo, dado que a fixação de mutações deletérias se acumula com maior facilidade — *Muller's ratchet* (Muller 1964) — além de gerarem novas combinações genotípicas mais lentamente, dificultando a adaptação a novos ambientes (Fujita et al. 2020).

Poucos são os vertebrados que se reproduzem por partenogênese (Vrijenhoek 1989), sendo os répteis Squamata (com exceção as anfisbenas) o único grupo de vertebrados que apresentam espécies com a reprodução verdadeiramente partenogenética, correspondendo a cerca de 0,6% da diversidade atual do grupo (Fujita et al. 2020). Dentre os lagartos, algumas espécies são pertencentes à família Gymnophthalmidae (Pellegrino et al. 2001, Cole et al. 2013), também conhecidos como microteídeos, apresentam pequeno tamanho corporal (comprimento rostro-cloacal — CRC, de 4 a 15 cm) e hábito semi-fossorial. A família inclui dois gêneros com espécies partenogenéticas conhecidas, *Loxopholis* e *Gymnophthalmus* (Pellegrino et al. 2001). Este último é composto por um grupo de espécies crípticas de lagartos diurnos heliotérmicos (que se aquecem sob o sol), que habitam a serapilheira de áreas abertas e

algumas áreas florestadas (Hoogmoed 1973, Avila-Pires 1995, García-Pérez e Schargel 2017, Ribeiro-Júnior e Amaral 2017).

A espécie partenogenética Gymnophthalmus underwoodi Grant 1958, se originou a partir da hibridização entre G. cryptus Hoogmoed, Cole e Ayarzaguena, 1992 e G. speciosus (Hallowell, 1861) possivelmente na região do Rio Orinoco, ao sul da Venezuela (Cole et al. 1990, 1993, Kizirian e Cole 1999). Este é um lagarto com CRC médio de 36 mm, com padrão corporal geral dos lagartos lacertoides (Grant 1958, Hardy et al. 1989, Recoder et al. 2018), e ciclo reprodutivo contínuo (Hardy et al. 1989). Por serem heliotérmicos, permanecem ativos preferencialmente durante os horários ensolarados e quentes do dia (Cole et al. 1990, Vitt e Zani 1998). Sua distribuição é ampla, ocorrendo na Venezuela, Ilhas caribenhas, Guiana, Guiana Francesa, Suriname e Brasil, ao longo de áreas abertas como savanas, campinaranas, campinas, áreas antropisadas e raramente em florestas (Grant 1958, Cole et al. 1990, 2013, Avila-Pires 1995, Ribeiro-Júnior e Amaral 2017, Snyder et al. 2017, Salas 2020). Ainda, novos registros de distribuição para áreas urbanas de Manaus, Amazonas (Recoder et al. 2018, Magnusson 2019) e Belém, Pará (Maciel et al. 2021) sugerem que a espécie esteja em processo de dispersão. Assim, este projeto tem por finalidade avaliar diferenças fenotípicas em traços morfológicos e na ecofisiologia termal, entre duas populações do lagarto partenogenético Gymnophthalmus underwoodi de áreas abertas naturais na região de Roraima e áreas urbanas em Manaus, Amazonas.

2. Objetivos

2.1 Objetivo geral

Avaliar se existem diferenças ecológicas e fenotípicas entre populações de *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* em resposta a ocupação de novos ambientes frente as alterações ambientais.

2.2. Objetivos específicos

- Avaliar se há diferenças funcionais nas preferências térmicas e mudanças morfológicas entre populações da área de distribuição natural nativa e populações com área de distribuição antrópica;
- 2. Avaliar se o ambiente urbano é um fator estressante para a espécie *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi;*

- Avaliar a ocorrência de áreas de alta adequabilidade ambiental em direção à Amazônia Central e Oriental no presente;
- 4. Avaliar a distribuição geográfica de G. underwoodi no cenário climático futuro.

3. Conclusão

O quão plástico é a espécie Gymnophthalmus underwoodi? A morfologia e a ecofisiologia são plásticas o suficiente para permitir que a espécie persista e realmente prospere neste ambiente. Seus membros maiores permitem uma melhor movimentação no gradiente urbano enquanto a maior temperatura aumenta sua velocidade. Contudo, o ambiente urbano pode levar a espécie a uma armadilha evolutiva ao longo do tempo (Diamond e Martin 2020). A espécie parece ter encontrado uma área climaticamente favorável para habitar: o ambiente urbano e áreas desmatadas. Nosso modelo de distribuição de espécie sugere que este lagarto persistirá e até mesmo aumentará sua distribuição. O modelo mostra um aumento na distribuição seguindo as novas áreas abertas previstas em cenários extremos, sugerindo que G. underwoodi está acompanhando a mudança ambiental e não apenas se dispersando acidentalmente por barcos (Maciel et al. 2020). No entanto, esta é uma espécie partenogenética e as taxas de adaptação e plasticidade dos clones podem não ser suficientes para a espécie persistir a longo prazo (Hoffmann e Sgrò 2011, Orive et al. 2017, Fujita et al. 2020, Moreira et al. 2021). Novos estudos com dados genômicos e técnicas de transcriptômica, para avaliação dos níveis de expressão gênica sob diferentes tratamentos e mais populações podem ajudar a avaliar como a espécie se sairá no futuro e se a plasticidade fenotípica será suficiente para sua persistência.

Nosso estudo comparou vários traços funcionais em duas populações, nativa e supostamente neonativa, destacou o impacto que paisagens alteradas e ambientes urbanos podem ter em nas trajetórias ecológicas e evolutivas de organismos da Amazônia. Além disso, este é um dos primeiros passos para entender como espécies partenogenéticas podem responder às mudanças ambientais. As mudanças fenotípicas encontradas na população neonativa e seu padrão de distribuição indicam o ambiente urbano como um centro de dispersão, que pode ser utilizado pelas espécies para chegar a outras áreas (Borden e Flory 2021). Reforçando assim, o papel do ambiente urbano e desmatamento como ameaça à biodiversidade da Amazônia, não somente por reduzir as populações, mas "pré-adaptando" espécies neonativas e invasoras a outras localidades, colocando as espécies nativas em risco (Huey et al. 2009, Borden e Flory 2021).

4. Referências

- Aguiar, D. G. (2017). Análise da variação sazonal da precipitação e temperatura em Manaus (AM). INPA.
- Alberti, M. (2015). Eco-evolutionary dynamics in an urbanizing planet. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 30,* 114–126.
- Angilletta, M. J., Niewiarowski, P. H., & Navas, C. A. (2002). The evolution of thermal physiology in ectotherms. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 27, 249–268.
- Angilletta, M. J. (2009). Thermal Adaptation: A Theoretical and Empirical Synthesis. Oxford University Press.
- Attum, O., Eason, P., Cobbs, G., & Baha El Din, S. M. (2006). Response of a desert lizard community to habitat degradation: Do ideas about habitat specialists/generalists hold? *Biological Conservation*, 133, 52–62.
- Avila-Pires, T. C. S. (1995). Lizards of Brazilian Amazonia (Reptilia: Squamata). Zoologische Verhandelingen, 299, 1–706.
- Barbosa, R. I. & Miranda, I. de S. M. (2004). Fitofisionomias e diversidade vegetal das savanas de Roraima. In: Barbosa R. I., Xaud H. A. M., Costa e Souza J. M. (Eds.). Savanas de Roraima - Etnoecologia, Biodiversidade e Potencialidades Agrossilvipastoris, FEMACT.
- Bickford, D., Howard, S. D., Ng, D. J. J., & Sheridan, J. A. (2010). Impacts of climate change on the amphibians and reptiles of Southeast Asia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 19, 1043–1062.
- Bodensteiner, B. L., Agudelo-Cantero, G. A., Arietta, A. Z. A., Gunderson, A. R., Muñoz, M. M., Refsnider, J. M., et al. (2021). Thermal adaptation revisited: How conserved are thermal traits of reptiles and amphibians? *Journal of Experimental Zoology. Part A, Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 335, 173–194.
- Borden, J. B., & Flory, S. L. (2021). Urban evolution of invasive species. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 19,* 184–191.
- Buckley, L. B., Ehrenberger, J. C., & Angilletta Jr, M. J. (2015). Thermoregulatory behaviour limits local adaptation of thermal niches and confers sensitivity to climate change. *Functional Ecology*, 29, 1038–1047.
- Caetano, G. H. O., Santos, J. C., Godinho, L. B., Cavalcante, V. H. G. L., Diele-Viegas, L. M., Campelo, P. H., et al. (2020). Time of activity is a better predictor of the distribution of a tropical lizard than pure environmental temperatures. *Oikos*, 129, 953–963.
- Campbell-Staton, S. C., Winchell, K. M., Rochette, N. C., Fredette, J., Maayan, I., Schweizer, R. M., et al. (2020). Parallel selection on thermal physiology facilitates repeated adaptation of city lizards to urban heat islands. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 4, 652–658.
- Cannon, A. J. (2020). Reductions in daily continental-scale atmospheric circulation biases between generations of global climate models: CMIP5 to CMIP6. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15, 064006.
- Chen, T. Y., Richard, R., Lin, T. E., & Huang, S. P. (2021). Landscape forest impacts the potential activity time of an invasive lizard and its possibilities for range expansion in Taiwan under climate warming. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *98*, 102948.
- Cole, C. J., Dessauer, H. C., & Markezich, A. L. (1993). Missing link found: the second ancestor of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* (Squamata, Teiidae), a South American unisexual lizard of hybrid origin. *American Museum novitates, 3055*.

- Cole, C. J., Dessauer, H. C., Townsend, C. R., & Arnold, M. G. (1990). Unisexual lizards of the genus *Gymnophthalmus* (Reptilia, Teiidae) in the Neotropics: genetics, origin, and systematics. *American Museum novitates, 2994*.
- Cole, C. J., Townsend, C. R., Reynolds, R. P., MacCulloch, R. D., & Lathrop, A. (2013). Amphibians and reptiles of Guyana, South America: illustrated keys, annotated species accounts, and a biogeographic synopsis. *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington, 125,* 317–578.
- Cordier, J. M., Aguilar, R., Lescano, J.N., Leynaud, G.C., Bonino, A., Miloch, D.; et al. (2021). A global assessment of amphibian and reptile responses to land-use changes. *Biological Conservation*, 253, 108863.
- Corrêa, P. B., Candido, L. A., Souza, R. A. F. de, Andreoli, R. V., & Kayano, M. T. (2016). Estudo do Fenômeno da Ilha de Calor na Cidade de Manaus/AM: Um Estudo a Partir de Dados de Sensoriamento Remoto, Modelagem e Estações Meteorológicas. *Revista Brasileira de Meteorologia*, 31, 167–176.
- Diamond, S. E. & Martin, R. A. (2020). Evolution is a double-edged sword, not a silver bullet, to confront global change. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1469, 38–51.
- Diele-Viegas, L. M. & Rocha, C. F. D. (2018). Unraveling the influences of climate change in Lepidosauria (Reptilia). *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 78, 401–414.
- Diele-Viegas, L. M., Figueroa, R. T., Vilela, B., & Rocha, C. F. D. (2020). Are reptiles toast? A worldwide evaluation of Lepidosauria vulnerability to climate change. *Climatic Change*, 159, 581–599.
- Elith, J., Kearney, M., & Phillips, S. (2010). The art of modelling range-shifting species. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 1,* 330–342.
- Essl, F., Dullinger, S., Genovesi, P., Hulme, P. E., Jeschke, J. M., Katsanevakis, S., et al. (2019). A Conceptual Framework for Range-Expanding Species that Track Human-Induced Environmental Change. *BioScience*, 69, 908–919.
- Fox, R. J., Donelson, J. M., Schunter, C., Ravasi, T., & Gaitán-Espitia, J. D. (2019). Beyond buying time: the role of plasticity in phenotypic adaptation to rapid environmental change. Philosophical *Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 374, 20180174.
- Fujita, M. K., Singhal, S., Brunes, T. O., & Maldonado, J. A. (2020). Evolutionary Dynamics and Consequences of Parthenogenesis in Vertebrates. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 51*, 191–214.
- García-Pérez, J. E. & Schargel, W. E. (2017). A new species of *Gymnophthalmus* (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) from sand dunes of the Llanos of Apure, Venezuela. *Zootaxa*, 4318, 576-586.
- Gibbons, J. W., Scott, D. E., Ryan, T. J., Buhlmann, K. A., Tuberville, T. D., Metts, B. S., et al. (2000). The Global Decline of Reptiles, Déjà Vu Amphibians. *BioScience*, 50, 653–666.
- Gilbert, A. L. & Miles, D. B. (2017). Natural selection on thermal preference, critical thermal maxima and locomotor performance. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences*, 284, 20170536.
- Grant, C. 1958. A new *Gymnophthalmus* (Reptilia, Teidae) from Barbados, B.W.I. *Herpetologica*, 14, 227–228.
- Grimm, N. B., Faeth, S. H., Golubiewski, N. E., Redman, C. L., Wu, J., Bai, X., & Briggs, J. M. (2008). Global Change and the Ecology of Cities. *Science*, *319*, 756–760.

- Hardy, L. M., Cole, C. J., Townsend, C. R. (1989). Parthenogenetic Reproduction in the Neotropical unisexual Lizard, *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* (Reptilia: Teiidae). *Journal of Morphology*, 201, 215–234.
- Hoffmann, A. A. & Sgrò, C. M. (2011). Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. *Nature*, 470, 479–485.
- Hoogmoed, M. (1973). Notes on the herpetofauna of Surinam IV: The lizards and amphisbaenians of Surinam. In: Schmithusen, J. (Eds.), *Biogeographica*. Springer Netherlands.
- Huey, R. B., Deutsch, C. A., Tewksbury, J. J., Vitt, L. J., Hertz, P. E., Álvarez Pérez, H. J.; & Gargaland Jr, T. (2009). Why tropical forest lizards are vulnerable to climate warming. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276, 1939–1948.
- Hulley, M. E. (2012). The urban heat island effect: causes and potential solutions. In: Zeman, F. (Eds.), *Metropolitan Sustainability* (pp.79–98). Woodhead Publishing.
- IPBES, (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services (summary for policy makers) IPBES Plenary at its seventh session (IPBES 7, Paris, 2019). Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3553579
- IPCC. (2021). Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Cambridge University Press*.
- Jara, M., García-Roa, R., Escobar, L. E., Torres-Carvajal, O., & Pincheira-Donoso, D. (2019). Alternative reproductive adaptations predict asymmetric responses to climate change in lizards. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 5093.
- Kearney, M. (2005). Hybridization, glaciation and geographical parthenogenesis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *20*, 495–502.
- Kearney, M. & Porter, W. (2009). Mechanistic niche modelling: combining physiological and spatial data to predict species' ranges. *Ecology Letters*, 12, 334–350.
- Kizirian, D. A. & Cole, C. J. (1999). Origin of the Unisexual Lizard Gymnophthalmus underwoodi (Gymnophthalmidae) Inferred from Mitochondrial DNA Nucleotide Sequences. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution, 11, 394–400.
- Kubisch, E. L., Corbalán, V. E., Ibarguengoytía, N., & Sinervo, B. R. (2015). Local extinction risk of three species of lizard from Patagonia as a result of global warming. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 94(1), 49-59.
- Lambert, M. R., Brans, K. I., Roches, S. D., Donihue, C. M., & Diamond, S. E. (2021). Adaptive Evolution in Cities: Progress and Misconceptions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 36, 239–257.
- Lamkin, M. & Miller, A. I. (2016). On the Challenge of Comparing Contemporary and Deep-Time Biological-Extinction Rates. *BioScience*, *66*, 785–789.
- Lazić, M. M., Kaliontzopoulou, A., Carretero, M. A., & Crnobrnja-Isailović, J. (2013). Lizards from Urban Areas Are More Asymmetric: Using Fluctuating Asymmetry to Evaluate Environmental Disturbance. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e84190.
- Levis, N. A. & Pfennig, D. W. (2016). Evaluating 'Plasticity-First' Evolution in Nature: Key Criteria and Empirical Approaches. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 31, 563–574.
- Maciel, A. O., Araújo, I. S., Lima-Filho, G. R., Castro, F. M. R., Nascimento, L. R. S., Santos, M. V. dos, Prudente, A. L. C., & Sturaro, M. J. (2021). Identity of *Gymnophthalmus* (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) from northeastern Amazonia

with evidence for *G. underwoodi* as invasive in Belém. *Acta Amazonica*, 51, 291–297.

Magnusson, W. E. (2019). Snakes and other Lizards. Open Science.

- Meineri, E., Deville, A. S., Grémillet, D., Gauthier-Clerc, M., & Béchet, A. (2015). Combining correlative and mechanistic habitat suitability models to improve ecological compensation. *Biological Reviews*, 90, 314–329.
- Moreira, M. O., Fonseca, C., & Rojas, D. (2021). Parthenogenesis is self-destructive for scaled reptiles. *Biology Letters*, 17, 20210006.
- Muller, H. J. (1964). The relation of recombination to mutational advance. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 1, 2–9.*
- Nordberg, E. J., & Schwarzkopf, L. (2019). Heat seekers: A tropical nocturnal lizard uses behavioral thermoregulation to exploit rare microclimates at night. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *82*, 107–114.
- Olivero, P. A., Oviedo-Diego, M. A., Vrech, D. E., Mattoni, C. I., & Peretti, A. V. (2021). Sensitivity of genital and somatic traits of scorpions to developmental instability caused by increasing urbanization: A 20-year experiment. *Ecological Indicators*, 122, 107272.
- Orive, M. E., Barfield, M., Fernandez, C., & Holt, R. D. (2017). Effects of Clonal Reproduction on Evolutionary Lag and Evolutionary Rescue. *The American Naturalist*, 190, 469–490.
- Partecke, J., Hegyi, G., Fitze, P. S., Gasparini, J., & Schwabl, H. (2020). Maternal effects and urbanization: Variation of yolk androgens and immunoglobulin in city and forest blackbirds. *Ecology and Evolution*, *10*, 2213–2224.
- Pellegrino, K. C. M., Rodrigues, M. T., Yonenaga-yassuda, Y., Sites, J., & Jack W. (2001). A molecular perspective on the evolution of microteiid lizards (Squamata, Gymnophthalmidae), and a new classification for the family. *Biological Journal* of the Linnean Society, 74, 315–338.
- Pontes-da-Silva, E., Magnusson, W. E., Sinervo, B., Caetano, G. H., Miles, D. B., Colli, G. R., Diele-Viegas, L. M., Fenker, J., Santos, J. C., & Werneck, F. P. (2018). Extinction risks forced by climatic change and intraspecific variation in the thermal physiology of a tropical lizard. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 73, 50–60.
- Pounds, J. A. & Puschendorf, R. (2004). Clouded futures. Nature 427, 107-109.
- Putman, B. J., & Tippie, Z. A. (2020). Big City Living: A Global Meta-Analysis Reveals Positive Impact of Urbanization on Body Size in Lizards. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 580745.
- Putman, B. J., Gasca, M., Blumstein, D. T., & Pauly, G. B. (2019). Downsizing for downtown: limb lengths, toe lengths, and scale counts decrease with urbanization in western fence lizards (Sceloporus occidentalis). Urban Ecosystems, 22, 1071–1081.
- Recoder, R. S., Vechio, F. D., Marques-Souza, S., Teixeira, M. J., Silva-Da-Silva, M., Santos-Jr, A.P., Ribeiro, S., Barrio-Amorós, C., & Rodrigues, M. T. (2018). Geographic variation and taxonomy of red-tailed *Gymnophthalmus* (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) from Amazonian Savannas. *Zootaxa*, 4497, 61-81.
- Ribeiro-Júnior, M. A., & Amaral, S. (2017). Catalogue of distribution of lizards (Reptilia: Squamata) from the Brazilian Amazonia. IV. Alopoglossidae, Gymnophthalmidae. *Zootaxa*, 4269, 151-196.
- Salas, D. (2020). New Cuban locality records for the Smooth-scaled Tegulet, *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* Grant 1958. *Reptiles & Amphibians*, 27, 541–542.
- Sheridan, J.A., & Bickford, D. (2011). Shrinking body size as an ecological response to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *1*, 401–406.

- Sinervo, B., Méndez-de-la-Cruz, F., Miles, D. B., Heulin, B., Bastiaans, E., Cruz, M. V. S., et al. (2010). Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. *Science*, 328, 894–899.
- Snell-Rood, E. C., Kobiela, M. E., Sikkink, K. L., & Shephard, A. M. (2018). Mechanisms of Plastic Rescue in Novel Environments. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 49*, 331–354.
- Snyder, S., Parker, B., Schmidt, R., McMullin, E., & Ferus, H. (2017). *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* Grant, 1958 (Reptilia: Gymnophthalmidae), a new record for the island of Montserrat. *Check List*, 13(3), 1–5.
- Souza, D. O. de, & Alvalá, R. C. dos S. (2014). Observational evidence of the urban heat island of Manaus City, Brazil. *Meteorological Applications, 21,* 186–193.
- Sparkman, A., Howe, S., Hynes, S., Hobbs, B., & Handal, K. (2018). Parallel behavioral and morphological divergence in fence lizards on two college campuses. *PLOS ONE, 13*, e0191800.
- Taylor, E. N., Diele-Viegas, L.M., Gangloff, E.J., Hall, J.M., Halpern, B., Massey, M.D., et al. (2020). The thermal ecology and physiology of reptiles and amphibians: A user's guide. *Journal of Experimental Zoology. Part A, Ecological and Integrative Physiology, 335*, 13–44.
- Thomas, C. D., Cameron, A., Green, R. E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L. J., Collingham, Y.C.; et al. 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, *427*, 145–148.
- Todd, B. D., Willson, J. D., Gibbons, J. W. (2010). The Global Status of Reptiles and Causes of Their Decline. *Ecotoxicology of Amphibians and Reptiles*, 47, 67.
- Tourinho, L., Sinervo, B., Caetano, G.H. de O., & Vale, M.M. (2021). A less data demanding ecophysiological niche modeling approach for mammals with comparison to conventional correlative niche modeling. *Ecological Modelling*, 457, 109687.
- Tulli, M. J., Abdala, V., & Cruz, F. B. (2012). Effects of different substrates on the sprint performance of lizards. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215, 774–784.
- Vanhooydonck, B., Measey, J., Edwards, S., Makhubo, B., Tolley, K.A., & Herrel, A. 2015. The effects of substratum on locomotor performance in lacertid lizards. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 115, 869–881.
- Vaughn, P. L., Mcqueen, W., & Gangloff, E.J. (2021). Moving to the city: testing the implications of morphological shifts on locomotor performance in introduced urban lizards. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 134(1), 141-153.
- Vitt, L. J., & Zani, P. A. (1998). Ecological Relationships Among Sympatric Lizards in a Transitional Forest in the Northern Amazon of Brazil. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 14, 63–86.
- Vrijenhoek, R., C. 1989. Genetic and ecological constraints on the origins and establishment of unisexual vertebrates. *Evolution and Ecology of unisexual vertebrate*, 466, 24–31.
- Wilson, R. J., Gutiérrez, D., Gutiérrez, J., Martínez, D., Agudo, R., & Monserrat, V. J. (2005). Changes to the elevational limits and extent of species ranges associated with climate change. *Ecology Letters*, 8, 1138–1146.
- Winchell, K. M., Maayan, I., Fredette, J. R., Revell, L. J. (2018). Linking locomotor performance to morphological shifts in urban lizards. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285, 20180229.
- Xu, Y., Ramanathan, V., & Victor, D.G. (2018). Global warming will happen faster than we think. *Nature, 564*, 30–32.

5. Capítulo único

Effects of urban environment and climate change on a neotropical parthenogenetic lizard

Lucas Rosado Mendonça^{1*}, Josué A. R. Azevedo², Marcelo Gordo³ and Fernanda P. Werneck⁴.

¹Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zoologia, Departamento de Biologia, Universidade Federal do Amazonas, Manaus, AM, Brazil.

²Programa de Coleções Científicas Biológicas, Coordenação de Biodiversidade, Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia, Manaus, Brazil.

³Laboratório de Biologia da Conservação, Projeto Sauim-de-Coleira, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal Do Amazonas, Manaus, Amazonas, Brazil.

⁴Coordenação de Biodiversidade, Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia, Manaus, Brazil. *Email: lucasrosadm@gmail.com

Short title: Phenotype variation in a parthenogenetic lizard

Paper in prep. for submission in Journal of Animal Ecology.

Author guidelines available at:

https://besjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/hub/journal/13652656/author-guidelines

Abstract

1. Habitat modification, such as deforestation and urbanization, coupled with global climate change, is among the most challenging impacts to species, and often require quick and varied responses from organisms. However, the type of reproduction is a major factor in these responses. Parthenogenetics species reproduce by cloning, and are able to colonize new environments quickly if the new environment is suitable for them. While poor genetic diversity and the accumulation of deleterious mutations can lead them to extinction over time. Therefore, how parthenogenetic species will respond to habitat modification?

2. Here, we assessed the variation in morphology and thermal traits between a natural and neonative (urban) population of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*, a parthenogenetic lizard that inhabits open environments within the Amazon basin. We compared the morphology of the two populations using 16 traits and assessed the urban environment as stress habitat using fluctuating asymmetry. The thermal traits were compared using preferential temperature, critical temperatures maximum and minimum, and thermal

performance curve of sprint. We also predict how changing climates might impact its distribution until 2100, through a hybrid species distribution model using ecophysiological and climatic variables, landcover, soil type and slope as predictors.

3. We provide evidence for fast phenotypic change in parthenogenetic species under anthropic factor. The neonative population shows faster sprint than the native population, as a result of the larger hind feet and fore feet, as well as higher temperature for optimal sprint performance. The neonative population shows cooler temperature to critical minimum, which may be associated with larger trunk. The distribution model shows a stronger association with open area nearby rivers and cities. This may facilitate the dispersion of individuals over the Amazon, tracking changing environments and dispersing accidentally aboard boats. The species shows tolerance to predicted climates even in extreme scenarios, increasing its distribution over open areas.

4. Despite being parthenogenetic, this is one of the few examples in which Amazonian thermoregulator lizard species may actually benefit from anthropic environmental changes. Therefore, anthropic factors may threaten Amazon biodiversity not solely by causing a population decline, but by enhancing competition between native and neonative/alien species.

Key-words: climatic emergency, morphology, neonative species, phenotype plasticity, thermal physiology.

Introduction

Ever increasing human action results in unprecedented evolutionary pressures leading species to extinction as a result of habitat loss by deforestation, introduced invasive species, urbanization, and global climate change (Gibbons et al. 2000, Bickford et al. 2010, Todd et al. 2010, Lamkin and Miller 2016, IPBES 2019). Recent climate change forecasts indicate an increase of 1.5°C in temperature by 2030 and 5.7°C by the end of the century compared to the pre-industrial era (Xu et al. 2018, IPCC 2021). Organisms can have different responses to deal with such pressures, however, we still do not have a complete understanding of whether these responses are adaptive or maladaptive (Diamond and Martin 2020). Organisms by respond through either disperse to new suitable areas or persisting in new conditions through phenotypic plasticity and evolutionary adaptation (Pounds and Puschendorf 2004, Thomas et al. 2004, Wilson et al. 2005, Hoffmann and Sgrò 2011, Meek et al. 2023). Evolutionary adaptation is

characterized by the environmental selection of locally adapted genetic variants and may require enough time and an array of adaptive genetic diversity (Hoffmann and Sgrò 2011, Levis and Pfennig 2016, Snell-Rood et al. 2018). Meanwhile, phenotypic plasticity allows the organism to change its physiology, behavior, or morphology in response to the environment (Hoffmann and Sgrò 2011, Fox et al. 2019). In that sense, phenotypic plasticity can act as a buffer to local adaptation (Buckley et al. 2015, Fox et al. 2019). These different response mechanisms to environmental change due to human activity need to be further investigated under integrated approaches and at complex natural-modified landscapes to confirm the main trend of evolutionary responses leading to species extinction (Gibbons et al. 2000, Sinervo et al. 2010, Böhm et al. 2013, Diele-Viegas et al. 2020, Cordier et al. 2021, Antonelli 2022).

Environmental differences lead to different evolutionary pressures that can result in functional variation across the distribution range of some species, such as in morphology, physiology and behavior (Vitt et al. 1997, Kohlsdorf et al. 2001, Winchell et al. 2016). Moreover, in a new environment, lizards' species might need to cross areas with different substrates, which may result in morphology changes as a consequence of the environmental filter, affecting their sprint velocities and survival (Tulli et al. 2012, Brandt et al. 2015, Vanhooydonck et al. 2015, Winchell et al. 2018, Vaughn et al. 2021). Urban landscapes represent one of these environments with different features and substrates that constrain animal locomotion (Caspi et al. 2022). Besides that, cities worldwide have developed heat islands due to the extensive use of impermeable surfaces with low albedo, high heat capacity, and reduction in forest areas (Grimm et al. 2008, Hulley 2012). The urban environment may act as an environmental filter, selecting organisms by heat tolerance, changing their body and limbs size, bilateral symmetry, physiology, and behavior through adaptations or plasticity (Lazić et al. 2013, Alberti 2015, Sparkman et al. 2018, Nordberg and Schwarzkopf 2019, Putman et al. 2019, Campbell-Staton et al. 2020, Putman and Tippie 2020, Borden and Flory 2021, Thompson et al. 2022). Regarding symmetry, pollution and other stress factors may lead to fluctuating asymmetry (FA), as a result of development instability (Palmer and Strobeck 1986, Lazić et al. 2013). Moreover, species that inhabit urban environments may use heat islands as dispersion centers to reach areas previously unavailable, tracking urban activities and moving to new areas of good thermal suitability (Essl et al. 2019, Borden and Flory 2021).

Species distribution models (SDM) are tools commonly used to assess species' response to climate change (Urban et al. 2007, Sinervo et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2011, 2021, Pontes-da-Silva et al. 2018). There are three different ways to perform a SDM: correlative model which uses distribution records and environmental variables; mechanistic model which uses ecophysiological data (e.g., preferential temperature) and microenvironment variables; and hybrid model (Elith et al. 2010, Sillero et al. 2021, 2023). Hybrid models combine correlative and mechanistic approaches (Elith et al. 2010, Meineri et al. 2015, Sillero et al. 2021, Tourinho and Vale 2023), often using ecophysiological traits, such as thermal data on hours of activity (H_a) and thermal performance curves (TPC) (Sinervo et al. 2010, Pontes-da-Silva et al. 2018, Caetano et al. 2020, Machado et al. 2023). Hours of activity correspond to the number of hours of the day in which the temperature is between the critical voluntary temperatures, which allow the individual to be able to inhabit a certain area, since the limitation in hours of activity reduce the energy gain and reproduction (Angilletta 2009, Kearney and Porter 2009). Thermal performance curve is the relationship between the organism's performance and the environmental temperatures, showing important thermal trait, such as critical temperatures and optimal temperature for performance (Angilletta et al. 2002, Angilletta 2006, Taylor et al. 2020). Frequently, hybrid models attain more accurate forecasts of species responses than correlative and mechanistic models, providing, therefore, a more complete view of species response to the environment (Kearney and Porter 2009, Elith et al. 2010, Sillero 2011, Meineri et al. 2015, Peterson et al. 2015, Tourinho and Vale 2023).

Ectotherms animals are in general more vulnerable to environmental changes, though, may change their phenotypes easier in response to new conditions (Gibbons et al. 2000, Hoffmann and Sgrò 2011, Nordberg and Schwarzkopf 2019, Diele-Viegas et al. 2020, Putman and Tippie 2020, Bodensteiner et al. 2021, Borden and Flory 2021). Reproductive modes have an important role in adaptive processes (Orive et al. 2017, Jara et al. 2019) and clonal species are interesting target groups to evaluate these effects. Parthenogenesis is the clonal reproductive mode of vertebrates and just 0.6% of the cases are true parthenogenetic species (only females) (Fujita et al. 2020). Since parthenogenesis abstains from male for reproduction, it can facilitate dispersion and therefore the establishment of new populations whenever organisms reach newly suitable areas (Kearney 2005, Hörandl 2009, Fujita et al. 2020). However, clonal reproduction may be costly in the long term. The lack of DNA-repair meiotic

mechanism and low DNA recombination can result in the increase of deleterious mutations - Muller's Ratchet (Muller 1964) - which can lead the clones to extinction (Fujita et al. 2020, Moreira et al. 2021). Therefore, few are the species of vertebrates that exclusively use parthenogenesis as a reproductive mode (Vrijenhoek 1989). An example is the true parthenogenetic lizard, Gymnophthalmus underwoodi Grant, 1958 (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) that reproduces year-round, and sexually mature individuals lay a clutch of two eggs (Hardy et al. 1989). G. underwoodi is a microteiid lizard of small size and general lacertoid body shape, living as semi-fossorial organism dwelling in open areas (savannas, urban environment), forest edges and occasionally in forested areas, foraging between the leaf litter and basking in the sunlight heliothermic (Cole et al. 1989, 1990, 2013, Vitt and Zani 1998, Alfonso and Hernandez 2017, Magnusson 2019, Salas 2020, Maciel et al. 2021). Its native distribution range is known mainly in the Amazon Forest, ranging from Amazonas, Brazil to Caribbean Islands, with records along the range (Grant 1958, Ribeiro-Júnior and Amaral 2017, Recoder et al. 2018, Salas 2020, Maciel et al. 2021) (Figure 1). As such, the species is believed to be dispersing in its latitudinal range and towards urban landscapes, and recently arrived in Manaus - AM, Belém - PA, both in Brazil, and La Habana Province, Cuba (Magnusson 2019, Salas 2020, Maciel et al. 2021).

Thus, here we aim to evaluate (1) if morphology and thermal physiology (preferential, critical, and optimal temperatures) differ between the native and neonative population to assess (2) whether the urban environment is a stress factor to the species, estimate (3) the current distribution and potential dispersion routes used to arrive in Manaus and to predict (4) the future response to climate change. Thus, we expected to enhance the acknowledgments of the effects of urbanization and climate change in neotropical parthenogenetic species.

Materials and methods

Study area & sample method

The Amazon Forest is often seen as an ocean of trees with wide rivers crossing it, however, it is much heterogeneous, composed by different phytophysiognomies, such as open areas ("Campinas", "Campinaranas", Savannas), "Terra Firme" and "Igapó" (flooded area) (Braga 1979, Adeney et al. 2016, de Carvalho and Mustin 2017). The campinas and campinaranas are regions with isolated small bushes and arboreal species, respectively (Adeney et al. 2016, Guimarães and Bueno 2016). Its soil presents mostly

sand content with a small clay component, and has low drainage capacity, becoming seasonally flooded in some localities (Adeney et al. 2016, Guimarães and Bueno 2016). In northern Amazonia, the savannas of Roraima are an enclave of open grasslands ("campo limpo", "campo sujo") with a mosaic of shrubs, scattered big trees, and forest patches (Barbosa e Miranda 2004). We collected individuals and ecological and physiological data in two localities in Brazil with contrasting environments (Figure 1): Manaus - Amazonas, (hereafter referred to as the neonative population; see Essl et al. 2019), on August 03-27, 2022, and January 16-18, 2023 during the rainy and dry season; and Bonfim - Roraima (hereafter referred to as native population), on July 17-22, 2022, during the rainy season. The precipitation between dry and rainy season are different, with general accumulated precipitation of 56.1 mm to 347 mm between them. These regions differ in temperature, in which Manaus has a mean of 27.3 °C (minimums of 23.7 °C and maximum of 34.1 °C) whereas Roraima's savannas have a mean of 27.8 °C (maximum of 34.3 °C and minimums of 22.4 °C) (Barbosa and Miranda 2004, Corrêa et al. 2016, Aguiar 2017, INMET 2022). However, the urban region of Manaus unveiled an increase in temperature of 0.7 °C from 1961 to 2008 (Souza and Alvalá 2014) and might be hotter nowadays. The soil of Manaus and savannas of Roraima are mainly composed of clay, with some addition of sand and silt (Chauvel et al. 1987, EMBRAPA 2020).

The morphological identification was made in the field following Recoder et al. (2018) and confirmed with molecular analysis using mtDNA 16S (see below). Lizards were caught through active surveys during the hottest hours of the day (10:00 am to 14:00 pm) in open areas in Bonfim, and next to buildings or/and garden areas in Manaus (Cole et al. 1989, Vitt and Zani 1998) as these lizards were observed active in the hottest hours of the day even on hot surfaces (Cole et al. 1990). To enhance the sampling effort in Manaus, since '[...] on a good day of collecting, four field workers might catch a total of eight or ten of these lizards [...]' (Cole et al. 1989), we used five pitfall traps with about four 1-liter buckets between a fence of 4 m \times 30 cm (Supplementary file Figure 1).

The survey was realized under SISBIO license n. 83159-1/2022 granted to LRM and SISBIO license nº 44832-4 granted to FPW. The physiological experiments were realized under CEUA license n. 042/2020 SEI 01280.0001606/2020-88 issued to FPW.



Figure 1. Distribution of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* shows a prevalence of records inside the Amazon biome limit (wide gray line) and in the north of Amazon/Solimões river (except for records in Belém, PA). Limits of Amazon biome, available at *Mapbiomas* (<u>https://amazonia.mapbiomas.org</u>). Open areas by Adeney et al. (2017). Photo: *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* by LRM.

Genetic data

To confirm the identification of Gymnophthalmus underwoodi with greater accuracy, we extracted genetic samples of the mitochondrial marker 16S (\pm 550 bp) from tissues of tail muscle and liver of eight collected specimens from Amazonas and Roraima (Appendix 1). The DNA was extracted following Promega Wizard® Genomic DNA purification Kit. The16S was amplified following Pellegrino et al. (2001) using primers (5'-CTGTTTACCAAAAACATMRCCTYTAGC-3') 16SF and 16SR (5'-TAGATAGAAACCGACCTGGATT-3'). The purification followed PEG 8000 protocol (Sambrook and Russel 2001) and was submitted to sequencing following BigDye Terminator 3.0 Cycle Sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems). Additionally, we used all sequences of the species available in Genbank for phylogenetic analysis, and sequences of species Micrablepharus atticolus Rodrigues, 1996, M. maximiliani (Reinhardt & Lütken, 1862) and Calyptommatus sinebrachiatus Rodrigues, 1991, as outgroups (Appendix 1) aligning with Geneious v7.0. To infer the phylogenetic tree, we used MrBayes v.3.2 (Ronquist et al. 2012) through the CIPRES webserver (http://www.phylo.org/). The GTR+G was chosen as the best substitution model for the alignment, obtained using MrModelTest v2.4 (Nylander 2004). The Bayesian Inference (BI) was made through two independent runs of 50 million generations each, four Markov chains, and trees sampling every 5,000 generations (Recoder et al. 2018). The *burn-in* of 10% was applied using Tracer v1.7.2 and the final tree was fitted with FigTree v1.4.4.

Preferential and voluntary temperatures

The collected specimens were kept individually isolated in plastic recipients with moistened paper and without access to food during the experiments (4 days). Abstention of food was made to avoid the effects of diet on preferred temperature (T_{pref}) (Simandle et al. 2001, Abayarathna and Webb 2021). All bowls were maintained in an isolated room at air temperature of 26-30 °C and all specimens participated in all thermal tests. After collected the individuals, we started the thermal tests with T_{pref} , following to sprint performance and end with the critical temperatures.

We determined the T_{pref} using a thermal gradient made of plastic roof lining measuring 1,00 m \times 1,00 m \times 0,33 m, split into eight channels with a width of 12.50 cm each (Paranjpe et al. 2012) (Supplementary file Figure 2). We used a zinc plate as the base of the gradient, with ice bags at one end and 60W incandescent light bulbs covered with yellow cellophane paper at the other end (Tschanz et al. 1976, Fleishman et al. 1993, 2011). The thermal gradient ranged from 40 °C to 10 °C in each channel. The individuals were acclimated for 30 minutes inside the thermal gradient before starting the measurements. Using a small thermocouple (Omega[®] 5SC-TT-T-36-72 Readv-Made Insulated Thermocouple with Kapton[®], PFA, Glass Braid Insulation and Molded *Connector*) attached to the lizards' belly with hospital tape, we recorded the lizards' body temperature every minute for 120 minutes with a data-logger (Omega ® TC-08-TC-DAQ 8-Channel USB Thermocouple Data Acquisition Module). As the core-surface temperature does not change significantly in small animals, we attached the tape to the belly instead of the cloaca to reduce the stress suffered by the specimen (Camacho et al. 2015, Diele-Viegas et al. 2018). We used the mean of the body temperatures recorded during the experiment period as the T_{pref}, the 5% percentile as voluntary minimum temperature (VT_{min}), and the 95% percentile as voluntary maximum temperature (VT_{max}) (Caetano et al. 2020, Taylor et al. 2020).

Sprint performance

After inferring the T_{pref} , we measured the sprint performance. We built a linear track with plastic roof lining measuring $1.00 \text{ m} \times 0.30 \text{ m} \times 0.30 \text{ m}$ (Supplementary file Figure 3). To measure the performance across different substrates, the base of the track was made with two types of substrates (herein treatments): one with red clay to represent native environment (native substrate); and the other with coarse-grain sandpaper (60 grit; grains ~400 µm) to represent the street substrate in the urban environment (urban substrate). To record the sprint during the 1.0 m, we used a digital camera (Casio Exilim Ex-FH20 9.1MP) attached to a tripod about 1.30 m over the track, and we shot at 400 frames for a second. We randomly split the specimens collected at each study area into two groups, one for each treatment, and did the experiment with one lizard per turn. Each lizard ran two times for each temperature, first with body temperature at room temperature (26 - 30 °C), the second at -5 °C of the first running, and the third at +5 °C of the first running, with recovery intervals of two hours between runs in different temperatures. We classified each of the two runs as 'good' or 'bad' for further analysis. The 'good' run was when the lizard crossed the track with the minimum stops, and the 'bad' run was when the lizard returned to the start point or stopped many times. To reach the required temperature, we put the lizards inside a styrofoam box with an ice bag to the second run and with 60W incandescent light bulbs to the third run (Supplementary file Figure 4). The body temperature was measured through the cloaca using an ultrafine thermocouple connected to an automatic thermometer (Omega[®] HH806AU accuracy 0.3 °C). We did not use the surface temperature here to avoid measuring our own temperature, since we needed to hold the specimen for about 30 seconds to be able to measure. The sprint speed was calculated as the mean of 'good' run of each temperature (three different temperatures per lizard) and disregarding moments that they stopped, using Tracker v5.1.5 (available at www.physlets.org/tracker).

Critical minimum and maximum

Two hours after the last sprint performance run, we measured the critical minimum (CT_{min}) and critical maximum (CT_{max}) with the maximum being the last trait measured for each lizard. To reach these critical temperatures, we used the same equipment as for sprint performance (described above; see Supplementary file Figure 4). CT_{min} was measured when the lizard lost its righting response, whereas CT_{max} was

measured when the lizard exhibited spasms and/or lost its righting response (Taylor et al. 2020). Between tests, the lizards had four hours to rest and recover. Immediately after the temperature measurement, we restore the lizard's body temperature to normal levels using a 60W incandescent light bulb for CT_{min} and a water bath for CT_{max} . All individuals were euthanized with xylazine 2%, fixed with 10% formalin, and deposited at the Amphibians and Reptiles Collection from the Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia (INPA-H) at the end of the tests.

Morphological measurements

We used both the collected specimens and those deposited at the INPA-H Collection (Supplementary data). The specimens were photographed with a digital camera Nikon D3400 with a lens DX 18-55 mm 1:3.5-5.6 G equipped with a generic *close-up* filter (+2), to measure the traits using ImageJ v1.54b (Schneider et al. 2012; precision of 0.0001 mm). We measured 16 traits (Supplementary file Figure 5) including snout-vent length (SVL); head width (HW); head height (HH); head length (HL); trunk length (TRL); interbrachial-nasal length (INL); femur length (FL); tibia length (TL); hindfoot length (FTL); humeral length (HL); forearm length (FAL); tail length (TAL); pelvic girdle (PG); shoulder girdle (SG); and counted scales of the third finger of hindfoot (SHF), and third finger of forefeet (SFF) (Recoder et al. 2013, Winchell et al. 2018, Vaughn et al. 2021). Furthermore, we measured both the left (L) and right (R) sides of each limb to assess fluctuating asymmetry (FA) (Palmer and Strobeck 1986, Lazić et al. 2013), while for the other analyzes we used only the left side. The traits were measured twice on different days and in a different order, and remeasured those that differed by more than 10%. We used just adults in morphological analyses, and we defined them as having SVL > 35 mm (Hardy et al. 1989) and the development of sexual gonads.

Data analysis

All analyses were performed using R software v4.2.1 (R Core Team 2022). The scripts and supplementary data can be accessed on GitHub (https://github.com/rosadolucas/underwoodi).

To generate the thermal performance curve (TPC), we used a generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) (Wood 2017) with package mgcv v1.8 (Wood 2001). We set the extremes of the curve with the values of CT_{min} and CT_{max} as velocities equal

to zero (Taylor et al. 2020). We assessed whether morphological traits are important to sprint performance, therefore we add the morphological traits that were different between native and neonative populations, treatment and geographic distribution, as fixed factors in the model. The curve smooth was set with geographic distributions as group parameters and individuals were set as random factors. Since we had many variables, we assessed which model is the best using the package *MuMin* v1.47.1 (Bartoń 2022). We selected the models with an AICc difference smaller than 2 ($\Delta < 2$), from the model with lowest AICc (Supplementary data). Graphs were made using the package *ggplot2* (Wickham, 2016). The temperature at which the lizard reached the highest performance breadth as the optimum temperature for sprint (T_{opt}), and the thermal performance is achieved (B80; Taylor et al. 2020). CT_{min}, CT_{max}, and Tpref were compared between distributions (neonative × native) using *t-tests*, and the test premises were previously assessed (Silva et al. 2022). The specimens that died in some steps of the tests were not used for thermal analyses, just for morphology.

The morphological differences between populations (neonative \times native) were assessed using a non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance (NP-MANOVA) with residual randomization in permutation procedure (RRPP; Collyer and Adams 2018) with 99999 permutations, following Telemeco and Gangloff (2020). This approach produces empirical sampling distributions from the random permutation of the residuals, reducing the chances of Type-I error and the concern between a number of variables and sample number. A principal component analysis (PCA) was used for visualization using *prcomp* and data were *z-score* standardized. The dependence of morphological trait on SVL was tested with a linear model (*lm*), and when the relationship was statistically significant the residuals of the *lm* were passed to be used in RRPP analysis.

To assess the fluctuating asymmetry (FA), we followed Lazić et al. (2013). First, we calculated an asymmetry index (AI) for all traits as the value on the right side minus on the left side (AI = R - L), where positive values suggest right dominance and negative values suggest left dominance. Second, we assessed trait size dependence on total body size using a linear regression between asymmetry index and SVL (AI ~ SVL) and the dependence on own trait size using a linear regression between asymmetry index and SVL (AI ~ SVL) and the average between left and right measures of each trait [AI ~ (R + L)/2]. Third, we assessed whether distributions have directional asymmetry (DA) or FA

through a linear mixed-effect model (LMM) with the package *nlme* (Pinheiro et al. 2023). The LMM was performed with the original data for each population for each morphological trait separately. Morphological traits were set as fixed factors between side and their interaction with specimens (side:specimen), both as fixed factors, and specimen measurements as random factor. For count of scales of hinfeet and forefeet (SFT and SFF) we used the family poisson in the package *glmmTMB* (Brooks et al. 2017). Fourth, we examined the FA between native and neonative populations using a *one-way* ANOVA with the log₁₀-transformation of absolute values of AI ($|log_{10}(R_{average})-log_{10}(L_{average})|$).

Inferring species distribution and extinction risks

To assess the current distribution of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*, infer its potential dispersion routes and its extinction risks we performed a hybrid species distribution model (Elith et al. 2010, Tourinho and Vale 2023). We chose the hybrid model since this approach has been shown as a more complete method to assess the effects of climate change on species (Pontes-da-Silva et al. 2018, Caetano et al. 2020, Tourinho et al. 2021, Tourinho and Vale 2023).

We selected four types of predictors: (1) Bioclimatic variables, available at WorldClim (<u>https://www.worldclim.org/</u>) (Fick and Hijmans 2017); (2) Soil types (percentage of clay, silt, and sand) available in Soilgrid (<u>https://soilgrids.org/</u>) (Hengl et al. 2017) for 0.0 and 5 cm depths; (3) Landcover based on Global land-use and land cover change (LUCC) (available at https://geosimulation.cn/GlobalLUCCProduct.html) (Li et al. 2017); (4) Slope acquired through altitude using function *terrain*; and (5) Ecophysiological variables, the hour of activity (H_a) and sprint performance. We excluded four bioclimatic variables that showed spatial anomalies in the study area (Bio07, Bio16, Bio18, and Bio19). For the remaining 15 variables left, we used variance inflation factor (VIF) with a threshold of 10 to reduce multicollinearity (Sillero et al. 2021) while changing Bio02 (Mean Diurnal Range) for Bio05 (Maximum Temperature of Warmest Month), and Bio12 (Annual Precipitation) for Bio15 (Precipitation Seasonality) since extreme are important to assess species vulnerability (Román-Palacios and Wiens 2020). The landcover was used as a continuous raster, where all forest biomes were set as 1 and grassland as 0. We used two scenarios of forest predictions in the future models, where the pessimistic scenario A2 was used for SSP5-8.5 and moderate scenario A1B for SSP3-7.0 (Sales et al. 2020). To create the

ecophysiological variables, we followed the vignette of the package Mapinguari (available at <u>https://gabrielhoc.github.io/Mapinguari.html</u>) (Caetano et al. 2019, 2020). We used the TPC calculated before (see Data Analysis) since this is a proxy to Darwinian fitness usually used for lizards (Angilletta 2009, Taylor et al. 2020), and hours of activity (H_a), an important predictor for assessing the effects of climate change (Angilletta et al. 2002, Sinervo et al. 2010, Caetano et al. 2020). All variables were aggregated to 2.5' (~ 5 km) spatial resolution. The correlation among all predictors was assessed using VIF (>10), resulting in the final 11 variables selected. We predicted the species distribution in two different climate change scenarios: moderate (SSP3-7.0) and extreme (SSP5-8.5); and in two different periods of time: 2060 and 2100 (Fick and Hijmans 2017, Riahi et al. 2017, IPCC 2021). To account for uncertainty, we choose four different global climate models (IPSL-CM6A-LR, MIROC6, MRI-ESM2-0, and UKESM10LL) that represent a good projection in study area (Cannon 2020).

We delimited the accessible area with a minimum convex polygon with a 500 km buffer (Elith et al. 2010, Barve et al. 2011, Mendes et al. 2020). This area almost covers the entire distribution of the genus Gymnophthalmus, thus covering a large variability of climate conditions available (Elith et al. 2010, Escobar et al. 2014, Sillero et al. 2021). However, we extrapolate the model to an area that ranges from latitude -90° to -45°, and longitude -10° to 25° to evaluate possible future areas of dispersion. The distribution records used were obtained through our records, literature records, GBIF (available at https://www.gbif.org/), and iNaturalist (available at https://www.inaturalist.org/), using only unique occurrences (157 total) (Supplementary data). We used an environmental filter, *EnvSample* function, that reduces environmental bias using the grid resolution of the variables (Varela et al. 2014), only with predictors selected with VIF<2 (seven in total) from those 11 sets above, leaving 103 records. Additionally, we used a 10 km buffer (Castellanos et al. 2019) to reduce geographic biases, keeping 75 records.

We performed the SDM with package *ENMTML* (Andrade et al. 2020) using four algorithms: Maximum Entropy (presence and background) (Phillips 2021), Bayesian Gaussian Process (presence and pseudo-absence) (Golding 2014, Golding and Purse 2016), Random Forest (presence and pseudo-absence) (Liaw and Wiener 2002), and Support Vector Machine (presence and pseudo-absence) (Karatzoglou et al. 2004); with the final model being the ensemble of the weighted mean of Sørensen index (Leroy et al. 2018). Sørensen index uses similarity/F-measures, not using true negative (real absence of species) to evaluate the model. This increases its discrimination capacity (distinguishing between presence and absence sites) since it is not biased by the prevalence of data (ratio between species occupancy area and study area) (Leroy et al. 2018). The choice of the four algorithms was based on their general performance in default settings and in the type of data necessary for their execution (absence and background), allowing a better ensemble (Sillero et al. 2021, Valavi et al. 2022, 2023). In addition, we performed the model using the Bioclim and generalized linear models algorithms (also available in ENMTML), however they did not perform well, so we excluded them from analysis. The number of pseudo-absences represents places where the species is not found but needs confirmation, and was equal to presences (presences/pseudo-absences ratio equal to 1), allocated outside a buffer of 50 km following the default parameters of the package, as well as the number of background points (10,000; points for climate sampling of environment) (Barbet-Massin et al. 2012, Andrade et al. 2020). The data partition was made using the 'checkerboard' cross-validation approach to reduce the spatial correlation (Roberts et al. 2017). Sørensen and TSS metrics (Allouche et al. 2006, Leroy et al. 2018), were used for model evaluation in which values close to +1 suggest a good model.

The model ensemble resulted in a threshold of 0.31 (details in Appendix 2) that was used to make a binary plot and estimate the area of occurrence. The estimated area of occurrence was calculated using the same polygon from the accessible area. The current and future binary plots were overlapped to assess which areas are considered stable, and in which areas *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* is forecast to lose or gain ranges. Following the same process described above, we performed two other distribution models in SSP5-5.8 scenario, one without land cover and the other model without ecophysiological variables to assess which is the most limiting predictor for the species distribution.

Results

Genealogy and sample size

We collected a total of 57 individuals (29 from Bonfim, RR [native population], and 28 from Manaus, AM [neonative population]). For thermal analyses we used 36 (n = 18 to neonative; n = 18 to native) since some individuals died in the experiment (n = 2), and others did not have all limbs (n = 1) or were occasionally collected (n = 18), preventing them from being included in the experiments, in consequence of time of collect to execution of tests. All specimens collected were attributed to *Gymnophythalmus underwoodi* by morphological inspection and Bayesian Inference which grouped all 10 specimens from the native population and 8 from the neonative population (Figure 2). As expected, all samples of *G. underwoodi* make a polytomy as a result of genetic similarity coming from a true parthenogenetic species (Cole et al. 1990, 1993, Funk and Omland 2003).



Figure 2. Bayesian Inference of mDNA 16S of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*. Individuals collected in the native population (blue band) and in the neonative population (brown band) are grouped with the nominal species and show very little variation as expected for parthenogenetic species.

Thermal sensitivity

The neonative population has a colder CT_{min} than the native population (t_{34} = -4.3398, p-value = 0.0001; 15.58 ± 1.20 °C and 17.65 ± 1.61 °C, respectively), but has the same values for CT_{max} (t₃₄ = 0.8055, p-value = 0.4261; 45.05 ± 0.84 °C and 44.85 ± 0.57 °C, respectively). Neonative and native populations show the same T_{pref} of around 32 °C (t_{33} = 0.8658, p-value = 0.3928; 32.70 ± 1.82 °C and 32.24 ± 1.29 °C, respectively) with voluntary temperature in VT_{min} = 30.17 $^{\circ}$ C and VT_{max} = 36.12 $^{\circ}$ C for neonative and $VT_{min} = 29.7$ °C and $VT_{max} = 35.34$ °C for native. Details of t test of thermal traits are available in Supplementary file Table 1. The best model for predicting thermal performance included snout-vent length (SVL), forearm length (FAL), hindfoot length (FTL), and geographic distribution as important variables (Appendix 3 and 4) with the neonative population having greater performance than the native population (Figure 3; p-value < 0.00005). The neonative population has a narrow thermal performance curve (TPC), with the thermal optimal performance (T_{opt}) in higher temperatures, close to CT_{max} , whereas the native population appears to have a wider TPC (Figure 3). The thermal performance breadth (B80) follows the TPC, while the native population has a wide range (B80 = 21.95 - 40.31 °C) with T_{opt} in 32.29 ± 2.81 $^{\circ}$ C, the neonative population has a narrow range (B80 = 27.29 - 40.58 $^{\circ}$ C) with T_{opt} in 37.61 ± 0.81 °C.



Figure 3. Thermal Performance Curve (TPC) of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* in native and neonative populations (A). Native population (B; blue curve) shows a wide and smaller curve with a thermal optimal (T_{opt}) nearby to the middle of the curve (purple line), at the same value of preferential temperature (T_{pref} ; green dotted line). The neonative population (C; brown curve) has a narrow and bigger curve, with a T_{opt} nearby to the critical maximum (CT_{max}) (purple line) and higher than T_{pref} (green dotted line). The native population has the T_{opt} inside the thermal voluntary limits (VT_{min} and VT_{max} ; red dotted line) whereas in the neonative population the T_{opt} is outside the VT_{min} and VT_{max} . In general, the neonative population has higher TPC but lower thermal performance breadth (B80; gray dotted line).
Morphological traits

The morphological analyses showed that there is no difference in snout-vent length (SVL) between native and neonative populations (*t-test*: $t_{54} = -0.34615$, p-value = 0.7306). All traits are dependent on SVL (p-value < 0.05) except tail length. PCA showed little overlap between neonative and native traits, with PC1 explaining 19.7% and PC2 explaining 15.3% of the variance (Supplementary files Figure 6 and Table 2). The NP-MANOVA confirms the difference in traits between native and neonative ($F_{1,47} = 6.4779$, Pr(>F) < 0.00005), in which the difference is in head height (HH), trunk length (TRL), interbrachial-nasal length (INL), hind foot length (FTL), forearm length (FAL), tibia length (TL), femur length (FL), scales of the third finger of hindfoot (SHF) (see Figure 4). The specimens from the neonative population are generally bigger than the native population, except for INL and FL. Details of the NP-MANOVA are available in Appendix 5 and the mean of the morphological traits is available in Appendix 6.



Figure 4. The least-square mean of predicted values at NP-MANOVA with residual randomization permutation procedure, of the morphological traits, analyzed between native (blue) and neonative (brown) populations. The specimens from the neonative population are mostly bigger than native in TRL, TL, HH, FTL, and FAL, except for INL and FL. Besides that, the neonative population has more scales in SFT. HW: head width; HH: head height; HL: head length; TRL: trunk length; INL: interbrachial-nasal length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hindfoot length; TAL: tail length; PG: pelvic girdle; SG: shoulder girdle; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet.

The Asymmetry index (AI) did not show a relation with SVL or with trait size for all traits assessed (Appendix 7 and 8). In the model, some traits showed a degree of DA and FA in each population (Appendix 9 and 10), however, when comparing them we did not find consistency across populations nor find statistical significance for all traits (Table 1), indicating that there is no tendency for increased asymmetry in urban environments. The AI values are available in Supplementary file Table 3.

finger of forefeet.					
Trait	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
FL	1	0.000388	0.000388	0.2449	0.6228
TL	1	0.003204	0.003204	1.9758	0.1660
FTL	1	0.001882	0.001882	2.0078	0.1627
HUL	1	0.001172	0.001172	0.9538	0.3335
FAL	1	0.000760	0.000760	0.7867	0.3794
SHF	1	0.001232	0.001232	1.3557	0.2498
SFF	1	0.001137	0.001137	0.7222	0.3995

Table 1. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) of asymmetry index (AI) between native and neonative populations. All traits assessed are equal in neonative and native populations, showing a Pr(>F) higher than 0.05. Df: degrees of freedom; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hindfoot length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet.

Current and future distributions

The ensemble of SDM showed good performance (TSS = 0.70, Sørensen = 0.84; Appendix 2), and the current distribution estimated from binary models (threshold value = 0.31) of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* comprises an area of \pm 1,295,742 km². The five most important variables were (most importance > less importance): Temperature Seasonality (Bio04), Land cover, Clay content (0.0 depth), Performance of neonative population, and Isothermality (Bio03). The importance of each variable can be seen in detail in Appendix 11. The model predicts high-suitability areas next to the Atlantic coast of northern South America, the Caribbean islands, along the Amazonas and Branco rivers, and a large area in the south of Colombia (Figure 5). Future predictions (2060 and 2100) show a decline in high suitability areas and an increase of suitability in areas that nowadays are low, with an increase in the predicted area estimated from binary maps mainly in the extreme climatic scenario and with the pessimistic deforestation prediction (SSP5-8.5; Figure 6D-F and Table 2).

Table 2. Predicted area of occurrence for *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* in current and four future scenarios. The species show a decrease of its distribution until 2100 in 38% for moderated scenarios (SSP3-7.0), whereas extreme scenarios (SSP5-8.5) with the pessimistic deforestation prediction have an increase in its distribution in 2100 (0.85%). Percentage of gain and loss reference to current distribution.

Scenario	Year	Predicted area (km ²)	Gain and loss (%)
Current	Current 2022		-
SSD3 7 0	2060	1,180,537	-8.89%
5515-7.0	2100	791,237	-38.93%
SSD5 9 5	2060	1,201,380	-7.28%
551 5-0.5	2100	1,306,801	+0.85%



Figure 5. The current distribution of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* estimated from an ensemble of the weighted mean of Sørensen index from Maximum Entropy, Bayesian Gaussian Process, Random Forest, and Support Vector Machine models. The higher suitability is indicated by green color, in a continuous gradient, whereas the white color indicates the lower suitability areas. Circles represent the current distribution records of *G. underwoodi*. The blue line represent the Amazon rivers.



Figure 6. Species Distribution Model predicted using moderated scenario (SSP3-7.0, A-C) and extreme scenario (SSP5-8.5, D-F) of CO_2 emission in two periods 2060 (first-row) and 2100 (second-row). Binary plots (third-row) show the gain of predicted area for the extreme scenario, through overlapping of each binary plot, showing the stable areas (blue) over time, lost areas (red), areas lost in 2100 but gained in 2060 (yellow), and area gain until 2100 (purple). The blue and black line represent the Amazon rivers.

Discussion

Urban environments require species to be plastic or adapt to support the new and often stressful conditions (Donihue and Lambert 2015, Borden and Flory 2021, Lambert et al. 2021, Thompson et al. 2022), as we find for *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*. This species dwells in open areas, which have a wide variation of temperature, and we expected to find a wide thermal curve that allows it to support this variation (Angilletta et al. 2002, Tewksbury et al. 2008). We found this pattern for the native population (Roraima), whereas the neonative population (Manaus) has a narrow thermal performance breadth (B80) in thermal performance curve (TPC), with a higher T_{opt} in warmer temperatures than the native, as probably a response to urban heat islands (Campbell-Staton et al. 2020, Borden and Flory 2021, Lambert et al. 2021).

Different mechanisms can lead to this response, and two are more likely for this parthenogenetic species. The first is transgenerational plasticity as a result of the nest site chosen by the gravid females to lay the eggs (Paranjpe et al. 2013, Sinervo et al. 2018, Fox et al. 2019, Moore et al. 2019, Caspi et al. 2022, Rossigalli-Costa and Kohlsdorf 2022). Urban environments have higher temperatures than natural environments (open areas within forest matrices included), as a result of the use of cement and other products with low albedo, which holds warmth for more time (Grimm et al. 2008, Hulley 2012, Borden and Flory 2021). The second is contextual plasticity, a change of behavior in response to the new environment (Caspi et al. 2022). Cities require that species have generalist behavior and be able to cross different barriers (Doherty et al. 2021, Caspi et al. 2022). The native habitat of Gymnophthalmus underwoodi is generally open, with few barriers. However, the individuals that live in cities need to climb and cross walls, and other structures, if they want to reach other areas, to explore new microhabitats as new warm surfaces, and they are able to do it (video available at https://youtu.be/i4X32hPchQ0; Mendonça, L. R. and Werneck, F. P. personal communication). Nevertheless, we did not find differences in speed between substrate treatments (Appendix 4), suggesting that this is not a factor leading to G. underwoodi adaptation to urban environments, unlike what has been found for other lizards (Winchell et al. 2016, Vaughn et al. 2021). The similarity of each substrate used in this study may have induced the absence of evidence of substrate effect. Sandpaper and clay have similar textures, and the sprint of terrestrial generalist lizards has low variation in the ground substrate (Tulli et al. 2012, Brandt et al. 2015).

 CT_{min} is generally more variable than CT_{max} , even though the latter may change (Campbell-Staton et al. 2020, Bodensteiner et al. 2021). The changes in behavior may explain neonatives having a lower $\mbox{CT}_{\mbox{\scriptsize min}}$ than individuals from the native population, while having the same T_{pref} and CT_{max} . The general rule is that urban environments have higher temperatures than other areas (Grimm et al. 2008). However, urban areas may have more foggy days during winter than nearby areas, reducing the solar radiation and therefore changing the thermal propriety of the microhabitat (Parris 2016). Gymnophthalmus underwoodi individuals inhabit garden areas close to houses and buildings, in urban environments, where the temperature is colder than in cement (Armson et al. 2012). Moreover, buildings may produce more shadows, contributing to reducing the micro-temperatures in urban areas over the day, and selecting organisms that can persist under colder environments. In the case of CT_{max} , the urban heat island may lead to enhanced heat tolerance (Campbell-Staton et al. 2020, Lambert et al. 2021). Nevertheless, the same behavior that leads to lower CT_{min} may buffer the higher effects of the heat island. As in the case of the burrowing habit that buffers the effects of high temperatures when reached at 5 cm depth, keeping the CT_{max} invariable (Buckley et al. 2015, Camacho et al. 2015, Gilbert and Miles 2017).

T_{pref} did not differ between neonative and native populations. Our estimates of T_{pref} were obtained in laboratory conditions and do not account for additional effects existing in field conditions. The active body temperature of some individuals in neonative population reached 40.1 °C (LRM, personal observation), similar to that found by Cole et al. (1990). In field conditions, individuals may have fed before we caught them, resulting in higher body temperatures (T_b), which was not the case during the experiments (Simandle et al. 2001, Gilbert and Miles 2016, Abayarathna and Webb 2021). Besides that, gravid females may choose lower $T_{\rm b}$ to avoid developmental stress (Paranjpe et al. 2013, Sinervo et al. 2018), and three individuals from the neonative population had eggs, whereas others from the same locality had follicles in development. In addition, wider thermoregulatory opportunities in urban environments may act as a buffer to local adaptation, allowing the T_{pref} of neonative population to be the similar to native population (Buckley et al. 2015). Moreover, the differences between T_b and T_{pref} might suggest that the neonative population is under going an adjustment process and that T_{pref} is selected to optimize their physiological process, even though the performance of a species increases with temperature (Angilletta et al. 2002, Angilletta 2009, Nordberg and Schwarzkopf 2019, Alés et al. 2021, Caspi et al. 2022).

In some cases, individuals may not perform at 100% of their capacity, instead, they perform at lower levels to reduce energetic costs, and focus on different escape routes (Hertz et al. 1983, Huey et al. 1989, Jayne and Irschick 2000). The maintenance of body temperature is lower than the optimal temperature to sprint but inside the B80 ensures that the species will have a broader 'safety zone' since it is further away from CT_{max} (Martin and Huey 2008).

Gymnophthalmus underwoodi is plastic across its native and expanded ranges, not only in the thermal ecology but also in morphology. The neonative population has bigger limbs (FTL and FAL) than the native, which is linked to locomotor performance and may enhance the climbing capacity necessary in the urban environment (Losos and Irschick 1996, Melville and Swain 2000, Kohlsdorf and Navas 2012, Winchell et al. 2016, 2018, Foster et al. 2018, Rossigalli-Costa and Kohlsdorf 2022). The increase in sprint performance promoted by longer hindfoot (FTL) and forearm (FAL) may be associated with escaping behaviors from predators in the urban environment (Seligmann et al. 2003, Assis et al. 2023). In addition, the longer forearm may enhance the support during maneuverability through the rocks, trash, and other obstacles present in urban environments that are less common in natural open environments (Melville and Swain 2000, Tulli et al. 2012). Besides that, individuals of the neonative population have a longer trunk (TRL) than natives. A bigger trunk structure can be the result of the increase in food availability and the site of the nest chosen by the mother. Lower temperatures may increase development time and may increase the size of the hatch, conferring higher thermal inertia, helping the species to maintain T_{pref} during cold periods in the city, even during rainy seasons (Kingsolver and Huey 2008, Valenzuela-Sánchez et al. 2015, Noble et al. 2018, Putman and Tippie 2020). In addition, the longer TRL is associated with burrowing performance and arid environments (Grizante et al. 2012, Camacho et al. 2015), which may facilitate mobility between barriers in urban environments. In contrast, the native population shows a bigger interbrachial-nasal length (INL), and this may allow them to catch prey inside the termite mounds, the place where they were found foraging nearby (Caldwell and Vitt 1999, Mendonça, L. R. personal communication). Individuals from the native population have smaller heads than individuals from neonative population, and the increase in INL associated with other cranial structures (that were not assessed) might allow a better capacity to dig (Barros et al. 2011, Fraga et al. 2022). These significant differences in morphology reinforce the importance of urban environments as a filter of biodiversity, leading to adaptation or plastic responses.

Both populations have some degree of fluctuating asymmetry (FA) on some of the traits measured. However, this FA does not differ between neonative and native populations. This suggests that the environmental filters that are leading the populations to new phenotypes are not very harmful, to which they possibly are adapted (Laia et al. 2015).

The SDM predicts suitable areas for the occurrence of Gymnophthalmus *underwoodi* next to the rivers, the Atlantic coast, and over the Amazonian open areas, mainly in the savanna of Roraima. Areas adjacent to rivers have a higher proportion of open areas, due to natural and anthropic disturbances, which could facilitate the dispersion of G. underwoodi through river banks to central (Manaus) and eastern (Belém) Amazonia. It has been proposed that the recent dispersion of G. underwoodi to Belém and to Caribbean islands, including Cuba, has been facilitated by accidental transport aboard boats (Alfonso et al. 2012, Alfonso and Hernandez 2017, Maciel et al. 2021), and the suitability of areas through the river banks reinforce it. This mechanism of transport has also been suggested for another species in the area (Lepidodactylus lugubris [Duméril & Bribon 1836]) (Hoogmoed and Avila-Pires 2015). However, another mechanism by which G. underwoodi could have arrived in Belém is by dispersing across the coast of Amapá, Brazil, where the model shows suitable areas, and crossing the Amazonas River using natural rafts (Hedges et al. 1992, Censky et al. 1998), as well as may use to reach the Caribbean Sea (Kizirian and Cole 1999). For the species to arrive in Manaus, they could disperse using the river banks of Branco and Negro rivers or the BR-174 road which connects Manaus, Amazonas, to Boa Vista, Roraima. Some species track environmental changes and use them to go to new suitable areas that were not previously available (Essl et al. 2019, Martins et al. 2021). We have records of G. underwoodi in Amazonas since 1973 in Barcelos (MZUSP31928), upper Negro river, however, the first record in Manaus, Amazonas, was in 2011 (INPA-H031306:12). This record was 34 years after the inauguration of BR-174 road, which suggests that the installation of the road allowed or facilitated their dispersion, since before it, the species was unknown in the city.

Although our forecasts show a decrease in areas with the highest values of suitability (>0.80), some scenarios show an increase in areas with enough suitability for the occurrence of the species (>0.31). The extreme scenario (SSP5.8-5) shows a gain of

suitable areas (0.85% until 2100) increasing the distribution of Gymnophthalmus underwoodi. The increase of the species distribution in extreme scenarios is associated with deforestation predicted by model A2 at 2100. This increase in its distribution following open areas is not unusual and was observed recently in another parthenogenetic species, Cnemidophorus cryptus Cole & Dessauer 1993, during the Pleistocene climatic fluctuations (Martins et al. 2021). However, the preference of G. underwoodi for open areas limits its real potential to dispersion. In the model without land cover, the ecophysiological predictors (H_a and TPC) are the most significant variable that increases the species' geographic distribution, and if open areas increase beyond predictions, the species' geographic distribution probably will also increase (Supplementary file Figure 7, Table 4 and 5). The increase in temperature will enhance the performance and the hours of activity (H_a) available for the species, potentially allowing it to disperse into the forest (Huey et al. 2009). G. underwoodi is one of the few studied reptiles' species that do not appear to be heavily threatened by recent human actions over the world (Gibbons et al. 2000, Bickford et al. 2010, Sinervo et al. 2010, Böhm et al. 2013, Diele-Viegas and Rocha 2018, Diele-Viegas et al. 2018, 2020, Pontes-da-Silva et al. 2018), and particularly in the Amazonia. This means that not any species can be used as a bio-indicator of high vulnerability or high resilience to the effects of climate change, as even closely related lizard species might have contrasting responses to changing climates (Martins 2021).

How plastic is the phenotype of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*? Its morphology and ecophysiology are variable and plastic enough to allow the species to persist and actually thrive in this environment. Its larger hindfoot and forearms allow for better movement in the urban gradient, while the higher temperatures increase its speed. In addition, our model suggests that this lizard will persist and even increase its distribution by 2100. The species distribution model shows an increase in distribution following the new open areas predicted in extreme scenarios, indicating that *G. underwoodi* is tracking environmental change, and not only 'taking rides' in boats to disperse. The species appears to have found an important area to inhabit, the urban environment, and at the same time, the urban environment may lead the species to an evolutionary trap over time (Diamond and Martin 2020). This is a parthenogenetic species to persist in the long term (Hoffmann and Sgrò 2011, Orive et al. 2017, Fujita et al. 2020, Moreira et al. 2021). New studies with genomic data such as transcriptomics to allow evaluation of gene expression levels under different treatments and more populations can help to assess how the species will perform in the future, and whether phenotypic plasticity will be enough for species persistence.

Our study compared multiple functional traits across native and supposedly neonative populations and highlighted the impact that altered landscapes and urban environments might have on the ecological and evolutionary trajectories of Amazonia organisms. In addition, this is the first step to understanding how one parthenogenetic species may respond to environmental changes. The phenotypic changes found in the neonative population and its distribution pattern indicate the urban environment as one environmental filter and center of dispersion, that can be used by them to reach other areas (Borden and Flory 2021). Therefore, the urban environment and deforestation can be a threat to Amazon biodiversity, not solely by causing a reduction in population, but also leading the species to a 'preadaptation' to another locality and/or filtering those species that better adapt to altered areas, increasing their potential of invasion and putting the native species in concern (Huey et al. 2009, Borden and Flory 2021).

Acknowledgements

We are thankful Brena S. Gonçalves, Bryan C. Martins, Eliza R. Costa, João M. Santos, Rafael N. Leite, Silionamã P. Dantas and Stuart V. Nielsen for assistance with fieldwork; to Albertina P. Lima, Cintia C. Frische and Isabela Oliveira for allowing the access to areas in Manaus, AM; to Catarina, Dona Flor, Dona Preta, Francisca, Francisco, Henrique, Hélio, Josué, Marcio, Maria Sônia, Sidney, Seu Mimi, Vitor and Welinston for allowing the access to areas in Bonfim, RR; to Erasmo A Silva, Igor Y. Fernandes, Letícia C. P. Sena and Lídia F. Martins and for help in thermal experiments. We thank Marcos R. Rosado for help with R code and Fabrício B. Baccaro help with R code and statistical analysis. We are grateful to Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Amazonas (FAPEAM) for the fellowship granted to LRM. We also thank members of the Werneck' lab for their comments and suggestions.

References

- Abayarathna, T., & Webb, J. K. (2021). Do Incubation Temperatures Affect the Preferred Body Temperatures of Hatchling Velvet Geckos? *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, 888.
- Adeney, J. M., Christensen, N.L., Vicentini, A., & Cohn-Haft, M. (2016). White-sand Ecosystems in Amazonia. *Biotropica*, 48, 7–23.
- Aguiar, D. G. (2017). Análise da variação sazonal da precipitação e temperatura em Manaus (AM). INPA.
- Alberti, M. (2015). Eco-evolutionary dynamics in an urbanizing planet. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 30*, 114–126.
- Alés, R. G., Acosta, J.C., Valdez, F., Martínez, T.A., Acosta, R., Rodriguez Muñoz, M.J., Fernández, R., & Corrales, L. (2021). Comparative thermal ecophysiology in *Pristidactylus scapulatus* populations from the Puna region of Argentina. *Zoology*, 145, 125903.
- Alfonso, Y. U., & Hernandez, Z. (2017). New records for *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) suggest another entry pathway on eastern Cuba. *Revista Cubana de Ciencias Biológicas*, 5, 4.
- Alfonso, Y.U.; Casenave-Cambet, A.C.; Fong, A.; Díaz, L.M. 2012. First Record of the Unisexual Lizard Gymnophthalmus underwoodi (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) in Cuba. *Reptiles & Amphibians* 19: 57–59.
- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., & Kadmon, R. (2006). Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). *Journal of Applied Ecology, 43*, 1223–1232.
- Andrade, A. F. A. de, Velazco, S. J. E., & De Marco Júnior, P. (2020). ENMTML: An R package for a straightforward construction of complex ecological niche models. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 125, 104615.
- Angilletta, M. J. (2006). Estimating and comparing thermal performance curves. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 31, 541–545.
- Angilletta, M. J. (2009). Thermal Adaptation: A Theoretical and Empirical Synthesis. Oxford University Press.
- Angilletta, M. J., Niewiarowski, P. H., & Navas, C. A. (2002). The evolution of thermal physiology in ectotherms. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *27*, 249–268.
- Antonelli, A. (2022). The rise and fall of Neotropical biodiversity. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society, 199*, 8–24.
- Armson, D., Stringer, P., & Ennos, A.R. (2012). The effect of tree shade and grass on surface and globe temperatures in an urban area. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 11, 245–255.
- Assis, C. L., Novaes, C. M., Dias, M. A. P. C., Guedes, J. J. M., Feio, R. N., & Garbino, G. S. T. (2023). Predation of vertebrates by domestic cats in two Brazilian hotspots: incidental records and literature review. *Neotropical Biodiversity*, 9, 10–16.
- Barbet-Massin, M., Jiguet, F., Albert, C. H., & Thuiller, W. (2012). Selecting pseudo-absences for species distribution models: how, where and how many? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *3*, 327–338.
- Barbosa, R. I., & Miranda, I. de S.M. (2004). Fitofisionomias e diversidade vegetal das savanas de Roraima. In Barbosa R. I., Xaud H.A.M., Costa e Souza J.M (Eds.), Savanas de Roraima - Etnoecologia, Biodiversidade e Potencialidades Agrossilvipastoris. FEMACT.
- Barros, F. C., Herrel, A., & Kohlsdorf, T. 2011. Head shape evolution in Gymnophthalmidae: does habitat use constrain the evolution of cranial design in

fossorial lizards? Journal of Evolutionary Biology, 24, 2423-2433.

- Bartoń, K. (2022). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. http://r-forge. r-project. org/projects/mumin/.
- Barve, N., Barve, V., Jiménez-Valverde, A., Lira-Noriega, A., Maher, S. P., Peterson, A.T., Soberón, J., & Villalobos, F. (2011). The crucial role of the accessible area in ecological niche modeling and species distribution modeling. *Ecological Modelling*, 222, 1810–1819.
- Bickford, D., Howard, S. D., Ng, D. J. J., & Sheridan, J. A. (2010). Impacts of climate change on the amphibians and reptiles of Southeast Asia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 19, 1043–1062.
- Bodensteiner, B. L., Agudelo-Cantero, G. A., Arietta, A. Z. A., Gunderson, A. R., Muñoz, M. M., Refsnider, J. M., & Gangloff, E. J. (2021). Thermal adaptation revisited: How conserved are thermal traits of reptiles and amphibians? *Journal* of Experimental Zoology. Part A, Ecological and Integrative Physiology, 335, 173–194.
- Böhm, M., Collen, B., Baillie, J., Bowles, P., Chanson, J., Cox, N., et al. (2013). The conservation status of the world's reptiles. *Biological Conservation*, 157, 372–385.
- Borden, J. B., & Flory, S. L. (2021). Urban evolution of invasive species. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 19*, 184–191.
- Braga, P. I. S. (1979). Subdivisão fitogeográfica, tipos de vegetação, conservação e inventário florístico da floresta amazônica. *Acta Amazonica, 9,* 53–80.
- Brandt, R., Galvani, F., & Kohlsdorf, T. (2015). Sprint performance of a generalist lizard running on different substrates: grip matters. *Journal of Zoology, 297*, 15–21.
- Brooks, M., Bolker, B., Kristensen, K., van Benthem K. J., Magnusson, A., Berg, C. W., Nielsen, A., Skaug, H. J., Marchler, M., & Bolker, B. M. (2017). glmmTMB: Generalized Linear Mixed Models using Template Model Builder. *The R Journal*, 9(2), 378–400. doi:10.32614/RJ-2017-066.
- Buckley, L. B., Ehrenberger, J. C., & Angilletta Jr, M. J. (2015). Thermoregulatory behaviour limits local adaptation of thermal niches and confers sensitivity to climate change. *Functional Ecology*, *29*, 1038–1047.
- Caetano, G. H., Santos, J., & Sinervo, B. (2019). Mapinguari: Process-based biogeographical analysis. *R package*.
- Caetano, G. H. O., Santos, J. C., Godinho, L. B., Cavalcante, V. H. G. L., Diele-Viegas, L.M., Campelo, P. H., Martins, L. F., Oliveira, A. F. S., Alvarenga, J. M., Wiederhecker, H. C., Silva, V. N., Werneck, F. P., Miles, G. C., & Sinervo, B. R. (2020). Time of activity is a better predictor of the distribution of a tropical lizard than pure environmental temperatures. *Oikos, 129*, 953–963.
- Caldwell, J. P., & Vitt, L. J. (1999). Dietary Asymmetry in Leaf Litter Frogs and Lizards in a Transitional Northern Amazonian Rain Forest. *Oikos, 84,* 383–397.
- Camacho, A., Pavão, R., Moreira, C. N., Pinto, A. C. B. F., Navas, C. A., & Rodrigues, M. T. (2015). Interaction of morphology, thermal physiology and burrowing performance during the evolution of fossoriality in Gymnophthalmini lizards. *Functional Ecology*, 29, 515–521.
- Campbell-Staton, S. C., Winchell, K. M., Rochette, N. C., Fredette, J., Maayan, I.; Schweizer, R. M., & Catchen, J. (2020). Parallel selection on thermal physiology facilitates repeated adaptation of city lizards to urban heat islands. *Nature Ecology & Evolution, 4*, 652–658.
- Cannon, A. J. (2020). Reductions in daily continental-scale atmospheric circulation

biases between generations of global climate models: CMIP5 to CMIP6. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15, 064006.

- de Carvalho, W. D., & Mustin, K. (2017). The highly threatened and little known Amazonian savannahs. *Nature Ecology & Evolution, 1*, 1–3.
- Caspi, T., Johnson, J. R., Lambert, M. R., Schell, C. J., & Sih, A. (2022). Behavioral plasticity can facilitate evolution in urban environments. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 37, 1092–1103.
- Castellanos, A. A., Huntley, J. W., Voelker, G., & Lawing, A. M. (2019). Environmental filtering improves ecological niche models across multiple scales. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 10, 481–492.
- Censky, E. J., Hodge, K., & Dudley, J. (1998). Over-water dispersal of lizards due to hurricanes. *Nature*, 395, 556–556.
- Chauvel, A., Lucas, Y., & Boulet, R. (1987). On the genesis of the soil mantle of the region of Manaus, Central Amazonia, Brazil. *Experientia*, 43, 234–241.
- Chen, I. C., Hill, J. K., Ohlemüller, R., Roy, D. B., & Thomas, C. D. (2011). Rapid Range Shifts of Species Associated with High Levels of Climate Warming. *Science*, 333, 1024–1026.
- Chen, T. Y., Richard, R., Lin, T. E., & Huang, S. P. (2021). Landscape forest impacts the potential activity time of an invasive lizard and its possibilities for range expansion in Taiwan under climate warming. *Journal of Thermal Biology, 98*, 102948.
- Cole, C. J., Dessauer, H. C., & Markezich, A. L. (1993). Missing link found: the second ancestor of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* (Squamata, Teiidae), a South American unisexual lizard of hybrid origin. *American Museum novitates*, 3055.
- Cole, C. J., Townsend, C. R., Dessauer, H. C., & Hardy, L. M. (1989). A lizard foretold. *Natural History*, 5.
- Cole, C. J., Dessauer, H. C., Townsend, C. R., & Arnold, M. G. 1990. Unisexual lizards of the genus *Gymnophthalmus* (Reptilia, Teiidae) in the Neotropics: genetics, origin, and systematics. *American Museum novitates*, 2994.
- Cole, C. J., Townsend, C. R., Reynolds, R. P., MacCulloch, R. D., & Lathrop, A. (2013). Amphibians and reptiles of Guyana, South America: illustrated keys, annotated species accounts, and a biogeographic synopsis. *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington* 125: 317–578.
- Collyer, M. L., & Adams, D. C. (2018). RRPP: An r package for fitting linear models to high-dimensional data using residual randomization. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, 1772–1779.
- Cordier, J. M., Aguilar, R., Lescano, J. N., Leynaud, G. C., Bonino, A., Miloch, D., Loyola, R., Nori, J. (2021). A global assessment of amphibian and reptile responses to land-use changes. *Biological Conservation*, 253, 108863.
- Corrêa, P. B., Candido, L. A., Souza, R. A. F. de, Andreoli, R. V., & Kayano, M. T. (2016). Estudo do Fenômeno da Ilha de Calor na Cidade de Manaus/AM: Um Estudo a Partir de Dados de Sensoriamento Remoto, Modelagem e Estações Meteorológicas. *Revista Brasileira de Meteorologia, 31,* 167–176.
- Diamond, S. E., & Martin, R. A. (2020). Evolution is a double-edged sword, not a silver bullet, to confront global change. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1469, 38–51.
- Diele-Viegas, L. M., & Rocha, C. F. D. (2018). Unraveling the influences of climate change in Lepidosauria (Reptilia). *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 78, 401–414.
- Diele-Viegas, L. M., Figueroa, R. T., Vilela, B., & Rocha, C. F. D. (2020). Are reptiles toast? A worldwide evaluation of Lepidosauria vulnerability to climate change.

Climatic Change ,159, 581–599.

- Diele-Viegas, L. M., Vitt, L. J., Sinervo, B., Colli, G. R., Werneck, F. P., Miles, D. B, Magnusson, W. E., Santos, J. C., Sette, C. M., Caetano, G. H. O., Pontes, E., & Ávila-Pires, T. C. S. (2018). Thermal physiology of Amazonian lizards (Reptilia: Squamata). *PloS One, 13*, e0192834.
- Doherty, T. S., Hays, G. C., & Driscoll, D. A. 2021. Human disturbance causes widespread disruption of animal movement. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, *5*, 513–519.
- Donihue, C. M., & Lambert, M. R. (2015). Adaptive evolution in urban ecosystems. *Ambio*, 44, 194–203.
- Elith, J., Kearney, M., & Phillips, S. (2010). The art of modelling range-shifting species. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 1,* 330–342.
- EMBRAPA. (2020). Mapa de solos do Brasil. (http://geoinfo.cnps.embrapa.br/layers/geonode%3Abrasil_solos_5m_20201104) . Accessed on 23 Feb. 2023.
- Escobar, L. E., Lira-Noriega, A., Medina-Vogel, G., & Peterson, A. T. (2014). Potential for spread of the white-nose fungus (*Pseudogymnoascus destructans*) in the Americas: use of Maxent and NicheA to assure strict model transference. *Geospatial Health*, *9*, 221–229.
- Essl, F., Dullinger, S., Genovesi, P., Hulme, P.E., Jeschke, J.M., Katsanevakis, S., Kühn,
 I., Lenzner, B., Pauchard, A., Pyšek, P., Rabitsch, W., Richardson, D. M.,
 Seebens, H., van Kleunen, M., van der Putten, W. H., Vilà, M., & Bacher, S.
 (2019). A Conceptual Framework for Range-Expanding Species that Track
 Human-Induced Environmental Change. *BioScience*, 69, 908–919.
- Fick, S. E., & Hijmans, R. J. (2017). WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology*, 37, 4302–4315.
- Fleishman, L. J., Loew, E. R., & Leal, M. (1993). Ultraviolet vision in lizards. *Nature*, 365, 397–397.
- Fleishman, L. J., Loew, E. R., & Whiting, M. J. (2011). High sensitivity to short wave lengths in a lizard and implications for understanding the evolution of visual systems in lizards. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278, 2891–2899.
- Foster, K. L., Garland, T., Jr, Schmitz, L., & Higham, T. E. (2018). Skink ecomorphology: forelimb and hind limb lengths, but not static stability, correlate with habitat use and demonstrate multiple solutions. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 125*, 673–692.
- Fox, R. J., Donelson, J. M., Schunter, C., Ravasi, T., Gaitán-Espitia, J. D. (2019). Beyond buying time: the role of plasticity in phenotypic adaptation to rapid environmental change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 374*, 20180174.
- Fraga, R. de, P. Santos-Jr, A., P. Werneck, F., C. Costa, H., T. Guimarães, J., Perez, R., Mendes, R. G., Mott, T., Vaz-Silva, W., & Ribeiro, S. (2022). The overlooked underground diversity: physical and chemical edaphic structure predict morphological variation in South American amphisbaenians (Squamata: Amphisbaenidae). *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment*, 0, 1–13.
- Fujita, M. K., Singhal, S., Brunes, T. O., & Maldonado, J. A. (2020). Evolutionary Dynamics and Consequences of Parthenogenesis in Vertebrates. *Annual Review* of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 51, 191–214.
- Funk, D. J., & Omland, K. E. (2003). Species-Level Paraphyly and Polyphyly:

Frequency, Causes, and Consequences, with Insights from Animal Mitochondrial DNA. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 34*, 397–423.

- Gibbons, J. W., Scott, D. E., Ryan, T. J., Buhlmann, K. A., Tuberville, T. D., Metts, B. S., Greene, J. L., Mills, T., Leiden, Y., Poppy, S., & Winne, C. T. (2000). The Global Decline of Reptiles, Déjà Vu Amphibians: Reptile species are declining on a global scale. Six significant threats to reptile populations are habitat loss and degradation, introduced invasive species, environmental pollution, disease, unsustainable use, and global climate change. *BioScience*, 50, 653–666.
- Gilbert, A. L., & Miles, D. B. (2016). Food, temperature and endurance: effects of food deprivation on the thermal sensitivity of physiological performance. *Functional Ecology*, *30*, 1790–1799.
- Gilbert, A. L., & Miles, D. B. (2017). Natural selection on thermal preference, critical thermal maxima and locomotor performance. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences*, 284, 20170536.
- Golding, N. (2014). GRaF-package: species distribution modelling using latent Gaussian random fields. *R package version* 0.1-12
- Golding, N., & Purse, B. V. (2016). Fast and flexible Bayesian species distribution modelling using Gaussian processes. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 598–608.
- Grant, C. (1958). A new *Gymnophthalmus* (Reptilia, Teidae) from Barbados, B.W.I. *Herpetologica*, 14, 227–228.
- Grimm, N. B., Faeth, S. H., Golubiewski, N. E., Redman, C. L.; Wu, J., Bai, X.; Briggs, J. M. (2008). Global Change and the Ecology of Cities. *Science*, 319(5864), 756–760.
- Grizante, M. B., Brandt, R., & Kohlsdorf, T. (2012). Evolution of body elongation in gymnophthalmid lizards: relationships with climate. *PloS One, 7*, e49772.
- Guimarães, F. S., & Bueno, G. T. (2016). As campinas e campinaranas amazônicas/The amazonian campinas and campinaranas. *Caderno de Geografia, 26*, 113–133.
- Hardy, L. M., Cole, C. J., & Townsend, C. R. (1989). Parthenogenetic Reproduction in the Neotropical unisexual Lizard, *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* (Reptilia: Teiidae). *Journal of Morphology*, 201, 215–234.
- Hedges, S. B., Hass, C. A., & Maxson, L. R. (1992). Caribbean biogeography: molecular evidence for dispersal in West Indian terrestrial vertebrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89, 1909–1913.
- Hengl, T., Jesus, J. M. de, Heuvelink, G. B. M., Gonzalez, M. R., Kilibarda, M., Blagotić, A., Shangguan, W., Wright, M. N., Geng, X., Bauer-Marschallinger, B., Guevara, A. M., Vargas, R., MacMillan, R. A., Batjes, N. H., Leenaars, J. G. B., Ribeiro, E., Wheeler, I., Mantel, S., & Kempen, B. (2017). SoilGrids250m: Global gridded soil information based on machine learning. *PLoS one, 12*, e0169748.
- Hertz, P. E., Huey, R. B., & Nevo, E. (1983). Homage to santa anita: thermal sensitivity of sprint speed in agamid lizards. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution, 37*, 1075–1084.
- Hoffmann, A. A., & Sgrò, C. M. (2011). Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. *Nature*, 470, 479–485.
- Hoogmoed, M. S., & Avila-Pires, T. C. S. (2015). *Lepidodactylus lugubris* (Duméril & Bibron 1836) (Reptilia: Gekkonidae), an introduced lizard new for Brazil, with remarks on and correction of its distribution in the New World. *Zootaxa*,

4000(1), 90-110

- Hörandl, E. (2009). Geographical Parthenogenesis: Opportunities for Asexuality. In: Schön, I.; Martens, K.; Dijk, P. (Eds.), *Lost Sex: The Evolutionary Biology of Parthenogenesis* (pp. 161-186). Springer Netherlands.
- Huey, R. B., Niewiarowski, P. H., Kaufmann, J., Herron, J. C. (1989). Thermal biology of nocturnal ectotherms: is sprint performance of geckos maximal at low body temperatures?. *Physiological Zoology*, *62(2)*, 488-504.
- Huey, R. B., Deutsch, C. A., Tewksbury, J. J., Vitt, L. J., Hertz, P. E., Álvarez Pérez, H. J., & Garland, T. (2009). Why tropical forest lizards are vulnerable to climate warming. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276, 1939–1948.
- Hulley, M. E. (2012). The urban heat island effect: causes and potential solutions. In: Zeman, F. (Ed.), *Metropolitan Sustainability* (pp. 79-98). Woodhead Publishing.
- INMET. (2022). INMET Clima. (https://clima.inmet.gov.br/GraficosClimatologicos/DF/83377). Accessed on 06 Nov. 2022.
- IPBES, (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services (summary for policy makers) IPBES Plenary at its seventh session (IPBES 7, Paris, 2019). Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3553579.
- IPCC. (2021). Summary for Policymakers. In, Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (Eds.). *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press.
- Jara, M., García-Roa, R., Escobar, L. E., Torres-Carvajal, O., & Pincheira-Donoso, D. (2019). Alternative reproductive adaptations predict asymmetric responses to climate change in lizards. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 5093.
- Jayne, B. C., & Irschick, D. J. (2000). A field study of incline use and preferred speeds for the locomotion of lizards. *Ecology*, 81, 2969–2983.
- Karatzoglou, A., Smola, A., Hornik, K., & Zeileis, A. (2004). Kernlab An S4 Package for Kernel Methods in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 11, 1–20.
- Kearney, M. (2005). Hybridization, glaciation and geographical parthenogenesis. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 20, 495–502.
- Kearney, M., & Porter, W. (2009). Mechanistic niche modelling: combining physiological and spatial data to predict species' ranges. *Ecology Letters*, 12, 334–350.
- Kingsolver, J., & Huey, R. (2008). Size, temperature, and fitness: Three rules. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 10, 251–268.
- Kizirian, D. A., & Cole, C. J. (1999). Origin of the unisexual lizard *Gymnophthalmus* underwoodi (Gymnophthalmidae) inferred from mitochondrial DNA nucleotide sequences. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 11, 394–400.
- Kohlsdorf, T., & Navas, C. (2012). Evolution of form and function: morphophysiological relationships and locomotor performance in tropidurine lizards. *Journal of Zoology*, 288, 41–49.
- Kohlsdorf, T., Garland, T., & Navas, C. A. (2001). Limb and tail lengths in relation to substrate usage in Tropidurus lizards. *Journal of Morphology*, *248*, 151–164.
- Laia, R. C., Pinto, M. P.; Menezes, V. A., & Rocha, C. F. D. (2015). Asymmetry in

reptiles: what do we know so far? Springer Science Reviews, 3, 13-26.

- Lambert, M. R., Brans, K. I., Roches, S. D., Donihue, C. M., & Diamond, S. E. (2021). Adaptive evolution in cities: progress and misconceptions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 36, 239–257.
- Lamkin, M., & Miller, A. I. (2016). On the challenge of comparing contemporary and deep-time biological-extinction rates. *BioScience*, *66*, 785–789.
- Lazić, M. M., Kaliontzopoulou, A., Carretero, M. A., & Crnobrnja-Isailović, J. (2013). Lizards from urban areas are more asymmetric: using fluctuating asymmetry to evaluate environmental disturbance. *PLoS one*, *8*, e84190.
- Leroy, B., Delsol, R., Hugueny, B., Meynard, C. N., Barhoumi, C., Barbet-Massin, M., & Bellard, C. (2018). Without quality presence–absence data, discrimination metrics such as TSS can be misleading measures of model performance. *Journal* of Biogeography, 45, 1994–2002.
- Levis, N. A., & Pfennig, D. W. (2016). Evaluating 'plasticity-first' evolution in nature: key criteria and empirical approaches. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 31*, 563–574.
- Li, X., Chen, G., Liu, X., Liang, X., Wang, S., Chen, Y., Pei, F., & Xu, X. (2017). A new global land-use and land-cover change product at a 1-km resolution for 2010 to 2100 based on human–environment interactions. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, 107, 1040–1059.
- Liaw, A., & Wiener, M. (2002). Classification and Regression by RandomForest. R. News 2.
- Losos, J.B., & Irschick, D.J. (1996). The effect of perch diameter on escape behaviour of Anolis lizards: laboratory predictions and field tests. *Animal Behaviour*, 51, 593–602.
- Machado, L. P. C., Caetano, G. H., Cavalcante, V. H. L., Miles, D. B., & Colli, G. R. (2023). Climate change shrinks environmental suitability for a viviparous Neotropical skink. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 5(4), e12895.
- Maciel, A. O., Araújo, I. S., Lima-Filho, G. R., Castro, F. M. R., Nascimento, L. R. S., Santos, M. V. dos, Prudente, A. L. C., Sturaro, M. J. (2021). Identity of *Gymnophthalmus* (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) from northeastern Amazonia with evidence for *G. underwoodi* as invasive in Belém. *Acta Amazonica*, 51, 291–297.
- Magnusson, W. E. (2019). Snakes and other Lizards. Open Science.
- Martin, T. L., & Huey, R. B. (2008). Why "suboptimal" is optimal: jensen's inequality and ectotherm thermal preferences. *The American Naturalist*, 171, E102–E118.
- Martins, L. (2021). Abordagem eco-evolutiva para entender a influência das mudanças do clima e da paisagem em lagartos de formações abertas amazônicas. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia - INPA, (https://repositorio.inpa.gov.br/handle/1/38104).
- Martins, L. F., Choueri, E. L., Oliveira, A. F. S., Domingos, F. M. C. B., Caetano, G. H. O., Cavalcante, V. H. G. L., Leite, R. N., Fouquet, A., Rodrigues, M. T., Carnaval, A. C., Colli, G. R., & Werneck, F. P. (2021). Whiptail lizard lineage delimitation and population expansion as windows into the history of Amazonian open ecosystems. *Systematics and Biodiversity*, 0, 1–19.
- Meek, M. H., Beever, E. A., Barbosa, S., Fitzpatrick, S. W., Fletcher, N. K., Mittan-Moreau, C. S., Reid, B. N., Campbell-Staton, S. C., Green, N. F., & Hellmann, J. J. (2023). Understanding Local Adaptation to Prepare Populations for Climate Change. *BioScience*, 73, 36–47.
- Meineri, E., Deville, A. S., Grémillet, D., Gauthier-Clerc, M., & Béchet, A. (2015).

Combining correlative and mechanistic habitat suitability models to improve ecological compensation. *Biological Reviews*, 90, 314–329.

- Melville, J., & Swain, R. (2000). Evolutionary relationships between morphology, performance and habitat openness in the lizard genus *Niveoscincus* (Scincidae: Lygosominae). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 70, 667–683.
- Mendes, P., Velazco, S. J. E., Andrade, A. F. A. de, & Junior, P. D. M. (2020). Dealing with overprediction in species distribution models: How adding distance constraints can improve model accuracy. *Ecological Modelling*, 431, 109180.
- Moore, M. P., Whiteman, H. H., & Martin, R. A. (2019). A mother's legacy: the strength of maternal effects in animal populations. *Ecology Letters*, 22, 1620–1628.
- Moreira, M. O., Fonseca, C., & Rojas, D. (2021). Parthenogenesis is self-destructive for scaled reptiles. *Biology Letters*, 17, 20210006.
- Muller, H. J. (1964). The relation of recombination to mutational advance. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 1(1), 2–9.*
- Noble, D. W. A., Stenhouse, V., & Schwanz, L. E. (2018). Developmental temperatures and phenotypic plasticity in reptiles: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biological Reviews*, *93*, 72–97.
- Nordberg, E. J., & Schwarzkopf, L. (2019). Heat seekers: A tropical nocturnal lizard uses behavioral thermoregulation to exploit rare microclimates at night. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *82*, 107–114.
- Nylander, J. 2004. MrModeltest2, vol 2. Uppsala: Evolutionary Biology Center, Uppsala University.
- Orive, M. E., Barfield, M., Fernandez, C., & Holt, R. D. (2017). Effects of clonal reproduction on evolutionary lag and evolutionary rescue. *The American Naturalist, 190*, 469–490.
- Palmer, A. R., & Strobeck, C. (1986). Fluctuating asymmetry: measurement, analysis, patterns. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 17, 391–421.
- Paranjpe, D. A., Cooper, R. D., Patten, A., & Sinervo, B. (2012). Measuring thermal profile of reptile in laboratory and field. *Proceedings of Measuring Behavior*, 460–462.
- Paranjpe, D. A., Bastiaans, E., Patten, A., Cooper, R. D., & Sinervo, B. (2013). Evidence of maternal effects on temperature preference in side-blotched lizards: implications for evolutionary response to climate change. *Ecology and Evolution, 3,* 1977–1991.
- Parris, K. M. (2016). Ecology of Urban Environments. John Wiley & Sons.
- Peterson, A. T., Papeş, M., & Soberón, J. (2015). Mechanistic and correlative models of ecological niches. *European Journal of Ecology, 1,* 28–38.
- Phillips, S. (2021). Fitting Maxent' Species Distribution Models with "glmnet". *R Packages.*
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., & R Core Team. (2023). nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-162.
- Pontes-da-Silva, E., Magnusson, W. E., Sinervo, B., Caetano, G. H., Miles, D. B., Colli, G. R., Diele-Viegas, L. M., Fenker, J., Santos, J. C., & Werneck, F. P. (2018). Extinction risks forced by climatic change and intraspecific variation in the thermal physiology of a tropical lizard. *Journal of Thermal Biology; 73;* 50–60.
- Pounds, J. A., & Puschendorf, R. (2004). Clouded futures. Nature, 427, 107-109.
- Putman, B. J., & Tippie, Z. A. (2020). Big city living: a global meta-analysis reveals positive impact of urbanization on body size in lizards. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 580745.

- Putman, B. J., Gasca, M., Blumstein, D. T., & Pauly, G. B. (2019). Downsizing for downtown: limb lengths, toe lengths, and scale counts decrease with urbanization in western fence lizards (Sceloporus occidentalis). Urban Ecosystems, 22, 1071–1081.
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Recoder, R. S., Ribeiro, M. C., & Rodrigues, M. T. (2013). Spatial variation in morphometry in *Vanzosaura rubricauda* (Squamata, Gymnophthalmidae) from open habitats of South America and its environmental correlates. *South American Journal of Herpetology*, 8, 186–197.
- Recoder, R. S., Vechio, F. D., Marques-Souza, S., Teixeira, M. J., Silva-Da-Silva, M., Santos-Jr, A. P., Ribeiro, S., Barrio-Amorós, C., & Rodrigues, M. T. (2018). Geographic variation and taxonomy of red-tailed *Gymnophthalmus* (Squamata: Gymnophthalmidae) from Amazonian Savannas. *Zootaxa*, 4497, 61-81.
- Riahi, K., van Vuuren, D. P., Kriegler, E., Edmonds, J., O'Neill, B. C., Fujimori, S., Bauer, N., Calvin, K., Dellink, R., Fricko, O., Lutz, W., Popp, A., Cuaresma, J. C., KC, S., Leimbach, M., Jiang, L., Kram, T., Rao, S., Emmerling, J., Ebi, K., et al. (2017). The Shared Socioeconomic Pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: An overview. *Global Environmental Change*, 42, 153–168.
- Ribeiro-Júnior, M. A., & Amaral, S. (2017). Catalogue of distribution of lizards (Reptilia: Squamata) from the Brazilian Amazonia. IV. Alopoglossidae, Gymnophthalmidae. *Zootaxa*, 4269, 151-196.
- Roberts, D. R., Bahn, V., Ciuti, S., Boyce, M. S., Elith, J., Guillera-Arroita, G., Hauenstein, S., Lahoz-Monfort, J. J., Schröder, B., Thuiller, W., Warton, D. I., Wintler, B. A., Hartig, F., Dormann, C. F. (2017). Cross-validation strategies for data with temporal, spatial, hierarchical, or phylogenetic structure. *Ecography*, 40, 913–929.
- Román-Palacios, C., & Wiens, J. J. (2020). Recent responses to climate change reveal the drivers of species extinction and survival. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117*, 4211–4217.
- Ronquist, F., Teslenko, M., van der Mark, P., Ayres, D. L., Darling, A., Höhna, S., Larget, B., Liu, L., Suchard, M. A., & Huelsenbeck, J. P. (2012). MrBayes 3.2: efficient Bayesian phylogenetic inference and model choice across a large model space. *Systematic Biology*, *61*, 539–542.
- Rossigalli-Costa, N., & Kohlsdorf, T. (2022). Native lizards living in brazilian cities: effects of developmental environments on thermal sensitivity and morpho-functional associations of locomotion. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 1383.
- Salas, D. (2020). New Cuban locality records for the Smooth-scaled Tegulet, *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* Grant 1958. *Reptiles & Amphibians*, 27, 541–542.
- Sales, L. P., Galetti, M., & Pires, M. M. (2020). Climate and land-use change will lead to a faunal "savannization" on tropical rainforests. *Global Change Biology*, 26, 7036–7044.
- Sambrook, J., & Russel, D. W. (2001). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual, Third Edition (3rd ed.). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, *9*, 671–675.
- Seligmann, H., Beiles, A., &Werner, Y. L. (2003). More injuries in left-footed individual lizards and Sphenodon. *Journal of Zoology, 260*, 129–144.
- Sillero, N. (2011). What does ecological modelling model? A proposed classification of ecological niche models based on their underlying methods. *Ecological*

Modelling, 222, 1343-1346.

- Sillero, N., Campos, J. C., Arenas-Castro, S., & Barbosa, A. M. (2023). A curated list of R packages for ecological niche modelling. *Ecological Modelling*, 476, 110242.
- Sillero, N., Arenas-Castro, S., Enriquez-Urzelai, U., Vale, C. G., Sousa-Guedes, D., Martínez-Freiría, F., Real, R., & Barbosa, A.M. (2021). Want to model a species niche? A step-by-step guideline on correlative ecological niche modelling. *Ecological Modelling*, 456, 109671.
- Silva, F. R. da, Gonçalves-Souza, T., Paterno, G. B., Provete, D. B., & Vancine, M. H. (2022). Análises ecológicas no R. Clube de Autores.
- Simandle, E. T., Espinoza, R. E., Nussear, K. E., & Tracy, C. R. (2001). Lizards, lipids, and dietary links to animal function. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology: Ecological and Evolutionary Approaches*, *74*, 625–640.
- Sinervo, B., Méndez-de-la-Cruz, F., Miles, D.B., Heulin, B., Bastiaans, E., Cruz, M.V.-S.; et al. 2010. Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. *Science*, 328, 894–899.
- Sinervo, B., Miles, D. B., Wu, Y., MÉNDEZ-DE LA CRUZ, F. R., Kirchhof, S., Qi, Y. (2018). Climate change, thermal niches, extinction risk and maternal-effect rescue of toad-headed lizards, *Phrynocephalus*, in thermal extremes of the Arabian Peninsula to the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Integrative Zoology*, 13, 450–470.
- Snell-Rood, E. C., Kobiela, M. E., Sikkink, K. L., & Shephard, A. M. (2018). Mechanisms of plastic rescue in novel environments. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 49, 331–354.
- Souza, D. O. de, & Alvalá, R. C. dos S. 2014. Observational evidence of the urban heat island of Manaus City, Brazil. *Meteorological Applications*, 21, 186–193.
- Sparkman, A., Howe, S., Hynes, S., Hobbs, B., & Handal, K. (2018). Parallel behavioral and morphological divergence in fence lizards on two college campuses. *PLoS one*, *13*, e0191800.
- Taylor, E. N., Diele-Viegas, L. M., Gangloff, E. J., Hall, J. M., Halpern, B., Massey, M. D., Rödder, D., Rollinson, N., Spears, S., Sun, B., & Telemeco, R. S. (2020). The thermal ecology and physiology of reptiles and amphibians: A user's guide. *Journal of Experimental Zoology. Part A, Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 335(1), 13–44.
- Telemeco, R. S., & Gangloff, E. J. (2020). Analyzing stress as a multivariate phenotype. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *60*, 70–78.
- Tewksbury, J. J., Huey, R. B., & Deutsch, C. A. (2008). Putting the heat on tropical animals. *Science*, 320, 1296–1297.
- Thomas, C. D., Cameron, A., Green, R. E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L. J., Collingham, Y. C., Erasmus, B. F. N., Siqueira, M. F., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., van Jaarsveld, A. S., Midgley, G. F., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M. A., Peterson, A. T., Phillips, O. L., & Williams, S. E. (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, 427, 145–148.
- Thompson, M.J.; Capilla-Lasheras, P.; Dominoni, D.M.; Réale, D.; Charmantier, A. 2022. Phenotypic variation in urban environments: mechanisms and implications. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 37: 171–182.
- Todd, B. D., Willson, J. D., & Gibbons, J. W. 2010. The Global Status of Reptiles and Causes of Their Decline. *Ecotoxicology of Amphibians and reptiles*, 47, 67.
- Tourinho, L., & Vale, M. M. (2023). Choosing among correlative, mechanistic, and hybrid models of species' niche and distribution. *Integrative Zoology, 18,* 93–109.

- Tourinho, L., Sinervo, B., Caetano, G. H. de O., & Vale, M. M. (2021). A less data demanding ecophysiological niche modeling approach for mammals with comparison to conventional correlative niche modeling. *Ecological Modelling* 457, 109687.
- Tschanz, A. T., Horst, R. K., & Nelson, P. E. (1976). the effect of environment on sexual reproduction of gibberella zeae. *Mycologia*, 68, 327–340.
- Tulli, M. J., Abdala, V., & Cruz, F. B. (2012). Effects of different substrates on the sprint performance of lizards. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215, 774–784.
- Urban, M. C., Phillips, B. L., Skelly, D. K., Shine, R. (2007). The cane toad's *Chaunus* [*Bufo*] marinus increasing ability to invade Australia is revealed by a dynamically updated range model. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274, 1413–1419.
- Valavi, R., Guillera-Arroita, G., Lahoz-Monfort, J. J., & Elith, J. (2022). Predictive performance of presence-only species distribution models: a benchmark study with reproducible code. *Ecological Monographs*, *92*, e01486.
- Valavi, R., Elith, J., Lahoz-Monfort, J. J., & Guillera-Arroita, G. (2023). Flexible species distribution modelling methods perform well on spatially separated testing data. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 32, 369–383.
- Valenzuela-Sánchez, A.; Cunningham, A.A.; Soto-Azat, C. 2015. Geographic body size variation in ectotherms: effects of seasonality on an anuran from the southern temperate forest. *Frontiers in Zoology* 12: 37.
- Vanhooydonck, B., Measey, J., Edwards, S., Makhubo, B., Tolley, K. A., & Herrel, A. (2015). The effects of substratum on locomotor performance in lacertid lizards. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 115, 869–881.
- Varela, S., Anderson, R. P., García-Valdés, R., & Fernández-González, F. (2014). Environmental filters reduce the effects of sampling bias and improve predictions of ecological niche models. *Ecography*, 37, 1084–1091.
- Vaughn, P. L., Mcqueen, W., & Gangloff, E. J. (2021). Moving to the city: testing the implications of morphological shifts on locomotor performance in introduced urban lizards. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 134(1), 141-153.
- Vitt, L. J., & Zani, P. A. (1998). Ecological Relationships Among Sympatric Lizards in a Transitional Forest in the Northern Amazon of Brazil. *Journal of Tropical Ecology, 14, 63–86.*
- Vitt, L. J., Caldwell, J. P., Zani, P. A.; & Titus, T. A. (1997). The role of habitat shift in the evolution of lizard morphology: evidence from tropical *Tropidurus*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *94*, 3828–3832.
- Vrijenhoek, R., C. (1989). Genetic and ecological constraints on the origins and establishment of unisexual vertebrates. *Evolution and Ecology of unisexual vertebrate*, 466, 224–231.
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Spring-Verlag.
- Wilson, R. J., Gutiérrez, D., Gutiérrez, J., Martínez, D., Agudo, R., & Monserrat, V. J. (2005). Changes to the elevational limits and extent of species ranges associated with climate change. *Ecology Letters*, *8*, 1138–1146.
- Winchell, K. M., Maayan, I., Fredette, J. R., & Revell, L. J. (2018). Linking locomotor performance to morphological shifts in urban lizards. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285, 20180229.
- Winchell, K. M., Reynolds, R. G., Prado-Irwin, S. R., Puente-Rolón, A. R., & Revell, L. J. (2016). Phenotypic shifts in urban areas in the tropical lizard Anolis cristatellus. Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution, 70,

1009–1022.

- Wood, S. N. (2001). mgcv: GAMS and Generalized Ridge Regression for R. *R news*.
- Wood, S. N. (2017). Generalized Additive Models: An Introduction with R, Second Edition. (2nd Ed.). Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Xu, Y., Ramanathan, V., & Victor, D. G. (2018). Global warming will happen faster than we think. *Nature*, *564*, 30–32.

Appendix

Appendix 1. Molecular sampling and sequences retrieved from Genbank. Specimens used in this study are in process of deposit in Genbank.

Voucher	Species	Locality	Country	168	Reference
AMNH-R-138374	Gymnophthalmus cryptus	San Juan de Manapiare, Amazonas	Venezuela	AF101362	Kirizian and Cole, 1999
MTR 946613	Gymnophthalmus leucomystax	Alto Alegre, Roraima	Brazil	AF420715	Pellegrino et al. 2001
AMNH-R-139856	Gymnophthalmus leucomystax	Rupununi Savanna	Guyana	AF101363	Kirizian and Cole, 1999
AMNH-R-139857	Gymnophthalmus leucomystax	Rupununi Savanna	Guyana	MH732714	Recoder et al. 2018
MTR 946618	Gymnophthalmus leucomystax	Alto Alegre, Roraima	Brazil	MH732715	Recoder et al. 2018
AMNH-R-128428	Gymnophthalmus pleii	Martinique	West Indies	AF101364	Kirizian and Cole, 1999
MTR 33465	Gymnophthalmus speciosus	San José	Costa Rica	MH732710	Recoder et al. 2018
ALM 5979	Gymnophthalmus cf. speciosus	Adicora, Falcón	Venezuela	AF101367	Kirizian and Cole, 1999
JC/FT7054	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	St. Phillip	Barbados	AF101369	Kirizian and Cole, 1999
APL 21703	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	MH732712	Recoder et al. 2018
INPA-H044762	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044761	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044753	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044769	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044759	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044760	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044764	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044752	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Manaus, Amazonas	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044745	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	São João da Baliza, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044744	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	São João da Baliza, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study

INPA-H044730	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044728	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044726	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044732	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044729	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044740	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044734	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
INPA-H044735	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bonfim, Roraima	Brazil	-	This study
MTR 946590	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Ilha de Maracá, Roraima	Brazil	KT254406	Goicoechea et al. 2016
NYSM 6432	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Bottomless Ghaut	Montserrat	KX866265	Snyder et al. 2017
MPEG 33517	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Belém, Pará	Brazil	MZ544022	Maciel et al. 2021
MTR 946601	Gymnophthalmus underwoodi	Ilha de Maracá, Roraima	Brazil	MH732711	Recoder et al. 2018
MTR 946639	Gymnophthalmus vanzoi	Alto Alegre, Roraima	Brazil	AF420743	Pellegrino et al. 2001
MTR 946484	Gymnophthalmus vanzoi	Boa Vista, Roraima	Brazil	MH732699	Recoder et al. 2018
MTR 946500	Gymnophthalmus vanzoi	Normandia, Roraima	Brazil	MH732705	Recoder et al. 2018
MTR 946529	Gymnophthalmus vanzoi	Uiramutã, Roraima	Brazil	MH732708	Recoder et al. 2018
MPEG 29841	Gymnophthalmus vanzoi	Mazagão, Amapá	Brazil	MZ544020	Maciel et al. 2021
MTR 33447	Gymnophthalmus vanzoi	Santarém, Pará	Brazil	MH732695	Recoder et al. 2018
AMNH-R-140975	Gymnophthalmus aff. vanzoi	Berbice River	Guyana	AF101366	Kirizian and Cole, 1999
AMNH-R-128438	Gymnophthalmus aff. vanzoi	St. George	Trinidad and Tobago	MH732709	Recoder et al. 2018
LG 854	Micrablepharus atticolus	Santa Rita do Araguaia, Goiás	Brazil	AF420718	Pellegrino et al. 2001
LG 1017	Micrablepharus maximiliani	Barra do Garças, Mato Grosso	Brazil	AF420730	Pellegrino et al. 2001
MRT 05054	Calyptommatus sinebrachiatus	Gentio do Ouro, Bahia	Brazil	AF420720	Pellegrino et al. 2001

Appendix 2. Evaluation table of Species Distribution Model for *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*. The ensemble model was made using the weighted mean of the Sørensen index. Threshold was calculated using the Sørensen index. AUC was not used to select the best model however we chose to inform since it is a common evaluation metric. MXD: Maximum Entropy default (all features); SVM: Support Vector Machine; RDF: Random Forest; GAU: Bayesian Gaussian Process.

Algorithm	Threshold	AUC	TSS	Sørensen
MXD	0.31	0.82	0.60	0.78
SVM	0.80	0.86	0.66	0.84
RDF	1.0	0.83	0.58	0.80
GAU	0.80	0.84	0.62	0.81
Ensemble	0.31	0.86	0.70	0.84

Appendix 3. Results of the model inferred with a generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) of Thermal Performance Curve used to create the ecophysiological variables to species distribution model (SDM). FAL: forearm length; FTL: hind foot length; SVL: snout-vent length.

Trait	Estimate	Std.Error	t value	df	F	Pr(> t)
Population	1.06329	0.22974	4.628	1	21.421	7.84 × 10 ⁻⁰⁶ *
FAL	0.80442	0.30456	2.641	1	6.976	0.009122*
FTL	-0.65662	0.30617	-2.145	1	4.600	0.033568*
SVL	0.05799	0.01656	3.501	1	12.260	0.000608*
Smooth terms	edf	Ref.df	F	p-value		
s(temp):neonative	7.820	9	100.70	$2 \times 10^{-16*}$		
s(temp):native	5.155	9	38.33	2 × 10 ⁻¹⁶ *		

* values < 0.05.

Appendix 4. Results of the best model selected with *MuMin* and inferred with a generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) of Thermal Performance Curve. FAL: forearm length; FTL: hind foot length; SVL: snout-vent length; SFT: scales of the third finger of hindfoot.

Trait	Estimate	Std.Error	t value	df	F	Pr(> t)
-------	----------	-----------	---------	----	---	----------

Population	1.04200	0.23171	4.497	1	20.222	1.37 × 10 ⁻⁰⁵ *
treatment	0.09826	0.13728	0.716	1	0.515	0.475216
FAL	0.83910	0.30843	2.721	1	7.402	0.007282*
FTL	-0.65826	0.30639	-2.148	1	4.616	0.033270*
SVL	0.06059	0.01696	3.573	1	12.763	0.000475*
Smooth terms	edf	Ref.df	F	p-value		
s(temp):neonative	7.835	9	101.21	2 × 10 ⁻¹⁶ *		
s(temp):native	5.167	9	38.57	2 × 10 ⁻¹⁶ *		

* values < 0.05.

Appendix 5. Least-square of predicted values from NP-MANOVA with residual randomization in permutation procedure. All traits were used as residual values of the linear regression between the trait and SVL in PCA. HW: head width; HH: head height; HL: head length; TRL: trunk length; INL: interbrachial-nasal length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hindfoot length; TAL: tail length; PG: pelvic girdle; SG: shoulder girdle; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet.

		Neonative	Native			
Trait	Mean	95% lower confidence	95% upper confidence	Mean	95% lower confidence	95% upper confidence
HL	-0.0186	-0.3750	0.3614	0.0241	-0.3904	0.4743
НН	0.3590	0.0295	0.6917	-0.5032	-0.8936	-0.1097
HW	-0.0750	-0.4407	0.2865	0.1056	-0.3262	0.5349
TRL	0.3886	0.0731	0.7226	-0.5448	-0.9164	-0.1514
INL	-0.4722	-0.7813	-0.1739	0.6616	0.3007	1.0174
SG	-0.1052	-0.4685	0.2607	0.1503	-0.2755	0.5824
PG	0.1100	-0.2419	0.4793	-0.1528	-0.5683	0.2882
FL	-0.2448	-0.5887	0.1085	0.3415	-0.0669	0.7629
TL	0.1897	-0.1635	0.5538	-0.2657	-0.6802	0.1581
FTL	0.5835	0.3189	0.8456	-0.8155	-1.1272	-0.5057
HUL	-0.0569	-0.4430	0.2925	0.0814	-0.3729	0.4895
FAL	0.4449	0.1314	0.7511	-0.6216	-0.9924	-0.2622
SHF	0.3364	-0.0014	0.6586	-0.4706	-0.8736	-0.0768

SFF	0.1112	-0.2530	0.4739	-0.1526	-0.5860	0.2784
TAL	-0.0468	-0.4194	0.3184	0.0647	-0.3685	0.4937

Appendix 6. Table of the mean of original values of morphological traits measured. Sd: standard deviation; Se: standard error; SVL: snout-vent length; HW: head width; HH: head height; HL: head length; TRL: trunk length; INL: interbrachial-nasal length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; TAL: tail length; PG: pelvic girdle; SG: shoulder girdle; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet. The left side is represented by _L and the right side by _R. Original data is available at (https://github.com/rosadolucas/underwoodi).

Trait	Distribution	Ν	Mean	Sd	Se
SVI	Neonative	35	40.5500	3.2548	0.5502
SVL	Native	21	40.8900	4.0259	0.8785
	Neonative	28	12.6799	0.8650	0.1635
	Native	20	13.3929	1.0166	0.2273
TDI	Neonative	28	22.0621	2.2248	0.4204
	Native	20	21.5026	2.7440	0.6136
	Neonative	28	3.7454	0.2794	0.0528
	Native	20	3.5539	0.3527	0.0789
	Neonative	28	6.7392	0.5402	0.1021
	Native	20	6.7748	0.4912	0.1098
	Neonative	28	5.5508	0.4438	0.0839
	Native	20	5.6071	0.4750	0.1062
SC	Neonative	28	5.0078	0.4582	0.0866
56	Native	20	5.0977	0.4452	0.0996
PC	Neonative	28	5.5317	0.4454	0.0842
10	Native	20	5.4744	0.4874	0.1090
TAI	Neonative	28	48.5837	15.0643	2.8469
	Native	20	50.1122	11.8762	2.6556
DM	Neonative	22	0.9373	0.2713	0.0578
DIVI	Native	19	0.9247	0.2620	0.0601
FU	Neonative	28	4.4644	0.4013	0.0758
	Native	20	4.6115	0.3743	0.0837
FL R	Neonative	28	4.3841	0.3153	0.0596

	_			
Native	20	4.4840	0.3734	0.0835
Neonative	28	3.2579	0.2828	0.0534
Native	20	3.1369	0.2412	0.0539
Neonative	28	3.3658	0.3297	0.0623
Native	20	3.1763	0.2133	0.0477
Neonative	28	6.8120	0.3379	0.0639
Native	20	6.3810	0.3348	0.0749
Neonative	28	6.8489	0.3541	0.0669
Native	20	6.5281	0.3348	0.0749
Neonative	28	3.2189	0.3672	0.0694
Native	20	3.2637	0.2006	0.0449
Neonative	28	3.1823	0.3162	0.0598
Native	20	3.2374	0.1936	0.0433
Neonative	28	6.5710	0.3662	0.0692
Native	20	6.2203	0.2741	0.0613
Neonative	28	6.5277	0.3883	0.0734
Native	20	6.1173	0.3288	0.0735
Neonative	35	17.0538	0.5928	0.1002
Native	21	16.6179	0.4967	0.1084
Neonative	35	17.0682	0.5925	0.1001
Native	21	16.9048	0.6249	0.1364
Neonative	35	13.3881	0.6875	0.1162
Native	21	13.3576	0.4782	0.1044
Neonative	35	13.4000	0.6508	0.1100
Native	21	13.0952	0.6249	0.1364
	Native Neonative Native	Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative28Native20Neonative35Native21Neonative35Native21Neonative35Native21Neonative35Native21Neonative35Native21Neonative35Native21	Native 20 4.4840 Neonative 28 3.2579 Native 20 3.1369 Neonative 28 3.3658 Native 20 3.1763 Neonative 28 6.8120 Native 20 6.3810 Neonative 28 6.8489 Native 20 6.5281 Neonative 28 3.2637 Neonative 28 3.2189 Native 20 3.2637 Neonative 28 3.1823 Native 20 3.2374 Neonative 28 6.5210 Native 20 3.2374 Neonative 28 6.5277 Native 20 6.1173 Neonative 35 17.0538 Native 21 16.6179 Neonative 35 17.0682 Native 21 16.9048 Neonative 35 13.3881	Native204.48400.3734Neonative283.25790.2828Native203.13690.2412Neonative283.36580.3297Native203.17630.2133Neonative286.81200.3379Native206.38100.3348Neonative286.84890.3541Native206.52810.3348Neonative283.21890.3672Native203.26370.2006Neonative283.18230.3162Native203.23740.1936Neonative286.57100.3662Native206.22030.2741Neonative286.52770.3883Native206.11730.3288Neonative3517.05380.5928Native2116.61790.4967Neonative3513.38810.6875Native2113.35760.4782Native2113.09520.6249

Appendix 7. Results of analysis of variance (ANOVA) assessing the relation of asymmetry index (AI) of morphology measures with snout-vent length (SVL). HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; SFT: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SHF: scales of the third finger of forefeet; Sd: standard deviation; Se: standard error; Df: degrees of freedom.

Trait	Df	Sum sq	Mean sq	F value	Pr(>F)
FL	1	0.1862	0.1862	2.3018	0.1323
TL	1	0.0077	0.0077	0.1510	0.6984
FTL	1	0.2090	0.2090	2.2864	0.1336

HUL	1	0.0234	0.0234	0.5389	0.4646
FAL	1	0.0997	0.0997	1.3193	0.2534
SHF	1	0.1950	0.1947	0.5318	0.4675
SFF	1	0.1500	0.1500	0.3687	0.5450

Appendix 8. Results of analysis of variance (ANOVA) assessing the relation of asymmetry index (AI) of morphology measures with trait size $(Right_{side} + Left_{side})/2$. HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; SFT: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SHF: scales of the third finger of forefeet; Sd: standard deviation; Se: standard error; Df: degrees of freedom.

Trait	Df	Sum sq	mean sq	F value	Pr(>F)
FL	1	0.2241	0.2241	2.7839	0.0983
TL	1	0.1140	0.1140	2.2850	0.1337
FTL	1	0.2155	0.2155	2.3594	0.1276
HUL	1	0.1609	0.1609	3.8294	0.0531
FAL	1	0.2085	0.2085	2.7984	0.0974
SHF	1	0.0340	0.0345	0.0937	0.7601
SFF	1	0.0410	0.0411	0.1007	0.7516

Appendix 9. Results of the linear mixed model (LMM) assessing fluctuating asymmetry (FA) and directional asymmetry (DA) into native and neonative populations. Statistical significance of Side suggest DA whereas the interaction Side:Individual suggest FA. HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length.

Neonative							
Trait	Model	numDF	denDF	F-value	p-value		
ы	Side	1	32	16.603	0.0003*		
ГL	Side:Id	60	32	2.532	0.0027*		
тт	Side	1	32	10.472	0.0028*		
11.	Side:Id	0	32	1.782	0.0391*		
FTL	Side	1	32	0.359	0.5535		

	Side:Id	60	32	1.449	0.1281
	Side	1	32	1.694	0.2024
HUL	Side:Id	60	32	2.072	0.0137*
EAT	Side	1	32	9.991	0.0034*
FAL	Side:Id	60	32	1.668	0.0591
		N	ative		
Trait	Model	numDF	denDF	F-value	p-value
FL	Side	1	22	12.060	0.0022*
	Side:Id	40	22	1.836	0.0652
TI	Side	1	22	0.841	0.3691
	Side:Id	40	22	0.990	0.5251
E.E.I	Side	1	22	20.185	0.0002*
FTL	Side:Id	40	22	3.195	0.0025*
	Side	1	22	2.754	0.1112
HUL	Side:Id	40	22	0.810	0.7248
EAL	Side	1	22	5.994	0.0228*
FAL	Side:Id	40	22	1.771	0.0772

* values < 0.05.

Appendix 10. Results of the generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) with Poisson correction assessing fluctuating asymmetry (FA) and directional asymmetry (DA) into native and neonative populations. The statistical significance of Side suggests DA whereas the interaction Side: Individual suggests FA. SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet.

Trait	Model Side	Chisq 0.0606	df	Pr(>Chisq)		
	Side	0.0606				
CHE			1	0.8056		
	Side:Id	2.7808	60	1.0000		
SEE	Side	0.0000	1	1.0000		
	Side:Id	4.3078	60	1.0000		
Native						
Trait	Model	Chisq	df	Pr(>Chisq)		
SHE	Side	0.0000	1	1.0000		

	Side:Id	1.6509	40	1.0000
GEE	Side	0.0740	1	0.7855
SFF	Side:Id	1.8363	40	1.0000

Appendix 11. Variables importance of the species distribution model performed. The Temperature Seasonality (Bio04) is the most important variable, while the Slope is the less important to the lizard *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi*.



Supplementary files



Figure 1. Pitfall traps used to collect individuals of *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* Grant 1958, in Manaus-AM, Brazil. Photos and drawings by LRM.



Figure 2. Structure to perform the Preferential Temperature test (T_{pref}). A: Support with 60W incandescent light bulbs covered with yellow cellophane paper; B: zinc plate with sandpaper to facilitate the mobility of individuals; C: ice bags. Drawings by LRM.



Figure 3. Structure to perform the Sprint performance. Bottom lane treatment with clay (native treatment); Upper lane treatment with sandpaper 60 grit grains ~400 μ m (neonative treatment). The track was split in distances of 0.25 m. Drawings by LRM.



Figure 4. Structure to increase and reduce the body temperature of the individuals. A: Box with icebags to reduce the body temperature; B: Box with 60w incandescent light bulb to increase the body temperature. Drawings by LRM.



Figure 5. Morphological traits measured. HW: head width; HH: head height; HL: head length; TRL: trunk length; INL: interbrachial-nasal length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; TAL: tail length; PG: pelvic girdle; SG: shoulder girdle; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet. Drawings by LRM.



Figure 6. Principal Analysis of Components (PCA) of morphology. PC1 explains 19.7% and PC2 explains 15.3% of the variance. HW: head width; HH: head height; HL: head length; TRL: trunk length; INL: interbrachial-nasal length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; TAL: tail length; PG: pelvic girdle; SG: shoulder girdle; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet.






C SSP5-8.5 2100 - Without landcover G SSP5-8.5 2100 - Without ecophysiology



Figure 7. Species Distribution Model predicted using extreme scenario (SSP5-8.5, D-F) of CO_2 emission in two periods 2060 (second-row) and 2100 (third-row) without land cover (left column) and without ecophysiological variables (right column). First-row is the current prediction. Binary plots (last row) were made with threshold of full model (0.31) and show the gain of predicted area for the extreme scenario, through overlapping of each binary plot. The stable areas (blue) over time, lost areas (red), areas lost in 2100 but gained in 2060 (yellow), and area gain until 2100 (purple).

		-		-	-		t_test	t
Trait	Population	Ν	Mean	sd	se	t	df	p-value
Т	Neonative	18	32.7078	1.8213	0.4293	0.9659		0.3928
I pref	Native	17	32.2435	1.29866	0.3150	0.8658	33	
CT	Neonative	18	45.0500	0.8459	0.1994	0.9055	24	0.4261
	Native	18	44.8556	0.5772	0.1361	0.8055	34	
CT.	Neonative	18	15.5889	1.2024	0.2834	-4.3398	34	0.0001
CT _{min}	Native	18	17.6500	1.6169	0.3811			
		Shapiro	-Wilk	Levene	Test			
Trait	Population	W	p-value	df	F value	Pr(>F)		
т	Neonative	0.07412	0.5661	1	0.2625	0.5507		
I pref	Native	0.97413	0.5661	33	0.3635	0.3307		
CT	Neonative			1	0 - 0 - 1	0.4010		
	Native 0.9401 0.0788 34 0.	0.5071	0.4812					
CT	Neonative	0.050.40	0.1020	1	2.0987	0.1566		
CT _{min}	Native	0.95848	0.1929	34				

Table 1. Results of *t.test* of thermal traits between neonative and native populations. The normality of data was assessed using Shapiro-Wilk and LeveneTest. T_{pref} preferential temperature; CT_{max} : critical maximum temperature; CT_{min} : critical minimum temperature.

Table 2. Values of loading of principal component analysis (PCA) of morphological traits measures. All traits except TAL were used as residual values of the linear regression between the trait and SVL in PCA. HW: head width; HH: head height; HL: head length; TRL: trunk length; INL: interbrachial-nasal length; HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; TAL: tail length; PG: pelvic girdle; SG: shoulder girdle; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet.

Trait	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8	PC9
HL	-0.1546	0.3936	0.6283	0.2682	0.3561	0.2501	-0.0277	-0.0448	-0.0309
НН	0.4551	0.4211	0.4122	-0.0381	0.0974	-0.3243	0.1924	0.1677	0.1316
HW	0.0515	-0.2985	0.5631	0.5714	0.2197	-0.0182	0.1717	0.3013	-0.1059
TRL	0.3715	0.8206	-0.0974	-0.0277	0.0134	0.2408	-0.0085	0.0551	-0.0097
INL	-0.4926	-0.7172	-0.0039	-0.0172	-0.0366	-0.3192	0.0133	0.2139	-0.0406
SG	-0.0639	0.0461	0.3627	0.3576	-0.7763	0.1696	0.0986	0.1065	-0.0205
PG	0.4675	-0.1900	0.4189	0.0122	-0.4569	-0.1319	-0.1934	-0.4373	0.1918

FL	0.0646	-0.4986	0.2544	-0.0659	0.0725	0.6061	-0.3629	-0.0044	-0.1854
TL	0.5829	-0.0135	0.1279	-0.5253	-0.1034	-0.0388	0.0237	0.0137	-0.5387
FTL	0.7377	-0.1108	0.0249	0.3176	0.0128	-0.3292	-0.3648	0.0375	-0.0221
HUL	0.4788	-0.3636	-0.0730	-0.2837	-0.1379	0.4204	0.3971	0.2201	0.3332
FAL	0.8313	-0.2071	-0.1748	-0.0187	0.0778	-0.0328	-0.0623	0.3638	0.0204
SHF	0.3779	-0.1353	-0.5356	0.5550	0.1809	0.1791	-0.2064	-0.1043	0.1191
SFF	0.2632	-0.0937	-0.3773	0.5031	-0.0746	0.0223	0.5322	-0.2839	-0.3142
TAL	0.3229	-0.4273	0.3554	-0.2054	0.4312	-0.0254	0.2605	-0.4072	0.1141

Table 3. The mean values of the asymmetry index (AI = R - L). The negative values refer to the Left side and the positive values refer to the Right side. HUL: humeral length; FAL: forearm length; FL: femur length; TL: tibia length; FTL: hind foot length; SHF: scales of the third finger of hindfoot; SFF: scales of the third finger of forefeet; Sd: standard deviation; Se: standard error.

Trait	Population	Ν	Mean	Sd	Se
T	Neonative	31	-0.11274	0.26161	0.04699
FL	Native	21	-0.13405	0.23912	0.05218
TI	Neonative	31	0.09403	0.23288	0.04183
	Native	21	0.03167	0.16735	0.03652
DTI	Neonative	31	0.01968	0.21633	0.03885
FIL	Native	21	0.14762	0.32902	0.07180
	Neonative	31	-0.03161	0.19011	0.03414
HUL	Native	21	-0.05500	0.14996	0.03272
EAT	Neonative	31	-0.11032	0.22729	0.04082
FAL	Native	21	-0.09381	0.28149	0.06143
SHE	Neonative	31	0.00000	0.51640	0.09275
SHF	Native	21	0.33333 0.63	0.65828	0.14365
GEE	Neonative	31 0.03226 0.70	0.70635	0.12686	
SFF	Native	21	-0.19048	0.51177	0.11168

Table 4. Evaluation table of Species Distribution Model for *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* in the extreme scenario without land cover and ecophysiological variables. The ensemble model was made using weighted mean of Sørensen index. Threshold was calculated using Sørensen index. AUC was not used to select the best model, however we chose to inform since it is a common evaluation metrics. MXD: Maximum Entropy default (all features); SVM: Support Vector Machine; RDF: Random Forest; GAU: Bayesian Gaussian Process.

SDM	Algorithm	Threshold	AUC	TSS	Sørensen
Without land cover variable	MXD	1.00	0.79	0.46	0.75
	SVM	0.55	0.79	0.59	0.80
	RDF	0.57	0.80	0.43	0.76
	GAU	0.54	0.76	0.41	0.76

	Ensemble	0.29	0.80	0.41	0.75
Without ecophysiology variable	MXD	1.00	0.77	0.53	0.74
	SVM	0.37	0.75	0.51	0.75
	RDF	0.60	0.78	0.51	0.76
	GAU	0.36	0.74	0.51	0.75
	Ensemble	0.39	0.76	0.54	0.76

Table 5. Predicted area of occurrence for *Gymnophthalmus underwoodi* in current and extreme future scenario without land cover and ecophysiological variable. The species show an increase of its distribution until 2100 in both scenarios. Percentage of gain and loss in reference to current distribution. The threshold to estimate the area was 0.31, the threshold of full model.

Scenario	Year	Predicted area (Km²) without land cover variable	Predicted area (Km ²) without ecophysiological variable
Current	2022	1,876,676.11	1,511,290.90
GGDE 0 5	2060	3,916,782.07 (+108%)	1,819,202.09 (+20%)
SSP5-8.5	2100	4,286,336.53 (+128%)	1,794,473.49 (+18%)